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1 DECLARATION OF OPENING
On establishing there is a quorum, the Mayor will declare the meeting open.
Recognition of the Traditional Owners

Council acknowledges the Quandamooka people who are the traditional custodians of the land on
which we meet. Council also pays respect to their elders, past and present, and extend that
respect to other indigenous Australians who are present.

2 RECORD OF ATTENDANCE AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Motion is required to approve leave of absence for any Councillor absent from today’s meeting.

3 DEVOTIONAL SEGMENT

Member of the Ministers’ Fellowship will lead Council in a brief devotional segment.

4 RECOGNITION OF ACHIEVEMENT

Mayor to present any recognition of achievement items.

5 RECEIPT AND CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES
General Meeting - 11 September 2019

6 MATTERS OUTSTANDING

6.1 OPPORTUNITY TO PARTICIPATE IN A JOINT LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACTIVITY — REGIONAL
APPROACH TO WASTE AND RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

At the General Meeting 12 December 2018 (Item 19.8 refers), Council resolved as follows:
That Council resolves as follows:

1. In accordance with section 228 2(b) of the Local Government Regulation 2012 to invite
Expressions of Interest for the provision of waste disposal services, including the use of
alternative waste disposal and recycling technologies, to service the needs of the Redland City
Council (Council) Local Government Area, or as part of a regional arrangement, joint
government entity or joint local government with other Councils in South East Queensland.

2. Torecord its reasons for making the resolution, as detailed in Clause 1 above, as follows:

a) A regional waste management solution may make alternative waste technologies feasible
and economical where those technologies would not otherwise be viable options for
Council due to the relatively small volume of waste disposed of by Council each year;

b) A regional waste management solution may enable Council to implement an advanced
solution to waste disposal not seen before in Queensland or Australia and be at the
forefront of advanced alternative waste technology in Australia;

¢) Redland City Council and the SEQ-West region of councils are each involved in the
management of recyclables and residual waste in their respective local government area;

d) Redland City Council recognises that some existing methods of waste treatment and
disposal including landfill disposal may not be sustainable in the long term;

e) Redland City Council wishes to understand and compare all available options for long term
treatment and/or disposal solution(s) for residual waste under their management;
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3.

f) Redland City Council wishes to be positioned to benefit from and respond to developments
in Queensland’s new Waste Strategy and associated regulatory frameworks and local
industry developments. Notably, the recently announced landfill levy (to be introduced in
July 2019) may provide direct or indirect incentives for resource recovery projects; and

g) Redland City Council believes that it is in its interests and its community’s interests to
investigate a regional approach to waste treatment and disposal, consider alternative
waste treatment technologies and solutions, including energy from waste solutions, and
derive the benefits from greater waste volumes. Noting that this investigation opportunity
does not preclude RCC from pursuing or participating in other market based waste
collection and disposal service delivery options and/or maintaining an active engagement
with BCC, to understand future waste disposal contract opportunities and costs that may
be offered by BCC.

To delegate to the Chief Executive Officer under s.257 (1)(b) of the Local Government Act 2009,
the authority to prepare and adopt a Tender Consideration Plan in accordance with section
230 of the Local Government Regulation 2012 outlining how Redland City Council can proceed
to implement a local solution if required following the EOI process;

To delegate to the Chief Executive Officer under s.257 (1)(b) of the Local Government Act 2009,
the authority to execute any agreements between councils participating in the Expression of
Interest process, as detailed in Clauses 1 and 3 above; and

The Group Manager Water and Waste Infrastructure be requested to submit a report to a
future meeting detailing the outcomes of the Expressions of Interest, as detailed in Clause 1
and 3 above.

A report will be presented to Council at the end of the year.

6.2

SOUTHERN MORETON BAY ISLANDS (SMBI) PASSENGER FERRY TERMINAL UPGRADE

At the General Meeting 19 June 2019 (Iltem 19.3 refers), Council resolved as follows:

That Council resolves as follows:

1.

To accept the Queensland State Government’s (the State’s) Southern Moreton Bay Islands
passenger ferry terminal upgrade funding offer and future ownership proposal, made by letter
dated 28 March 2019, by the State Minister for Transport and Main Roads to the Mayor of
Redland City Council.

To request the Mayor and Chief Executive Officer to write to the State Minister for Transport
and Main Roads and the Director General Department of Transport and Main Roads
respectively, confirming Council’s acceptance of the State’s offer.

To bring back to Council for approval, a Deed of Agreement between the Department of
Transport and Main Roads and Council, for the upgrade of the Southern Moreton Bay Islands
passenger ferry terminals, which may include, but not be limited to, passenger ferry terminal
upgrade funding arrangements, post upgrade ownership and tenure arrangements and post
upgrade commercial and development opportunities.

That this report and attachments remain confidential until a Deed of Agreement for the
upgrade of the Southern Moreton Bay Islands passenger ferry terminals between the State and
Council has been executed, subject to maintaining the confidentiality of legally privileged,
private and commercial in confidence information.

A report will be brought to a future meeting of Council.
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6.3 PETITION REGARDING MORETON BAY RAMSAR SITE
At the General Meeting 14 August 2019 (Item 9.1 refers), Council resolved as follows:

That the Petition be received and referred to the Chief Executive officer for consideration and a
report to the local government.

A report will be brought to a future meeting of Council.
7 MAYORAL MINUTE

In accordance with s.6.9 of POL-3127 Council Meeting Standing Orders, the Mayor may put to the
meeting a written motion called a ‘Mayoral Minute’, on any matter. Such motion may be put to
the meeting without being seconded, may be put at that stage in the meeting considered
appropriate by the Mayor and once passed becomes a resolution of Council.

8 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
In accordance with s.6.10 of POL-3127 Council Meeting Standing Orders:

1. In each meeting (other than special meetings), a period of 15 minutes may be made available
by resolution to permit members of the public to address the local government on matters of
public interest relating to the local government. This period may be extended by resolution.

2. Priority will be given to members of the public who make written application to the CEO no
later than 4.30pm two days before the meeting. A request may also be made to the
chairperson, when invited to do so, at the commencement of the public participation period
of the meeting.

3. The time allocated to each speaker shall be a maximum of five minutes. The chairperson, at
his/her discretion, has authority to withdraw the approval to address Council before the time
period has elapsed.

4. The chairperson will consider each application on its merits and may consider any relevant
matter in his/her decision to allow or disallow a person to address the local government, e.g.

a) Whether the matter is of public interest;
b) The number of people who wish to address the meeting about the same subject

c) The number of times that a person, or anyone else, has addressed the local government
previously about the matter;

d) The person’s behaviour at that or a previous meeting’ and
e) If the person has made a written application to address the meeting.
5. Any person invited to address the meeting must:

a) State their name and suburb, or organisation they represent and the subject they wish to
speak about;

b) Stand (unless unable to do so);
c) Act and speak with decorum;
d) Be respectful and courteous; and

e) Make no comments directed at any individual Council employee, Councillor or member of
the public, ensuring that all comments relate to Council as a whole.
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9 PETITIONS AND PRESENTATIONS
Councillors may present petitions or make presentations under this section.

9.1 PETITION CR PAUL GOLLE — RESIDENTS REQUESTING COUNCIL RECONSIDERS THE
PROPOSED PARKING AND PICK UP LOADING ZONE IN GRETCHEN CIRCUIT, THORNLANDS

MOTION

That the petition is of an operational nature and be received and referred to the Chief Executive
Officer for consideration.

10 MOTION TO ALTER THE ORDER OF BUSINESS

The order of business may be altered for a particular meeting where the Councillors at that
meeting pass a motion to that effect. Any motion to alter the order of business may be moved
without notice.

11 DECLARATION OF MATERIAL PERSONAL INTEREST OR CONFLICT OF
INTEREST ON ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS

Councillors are reminded of their responsibilities in relation to a councillor’s material personal
interest and conflict of interest at a meeting (for full details see Division 5A of the Local
Government Act 2009).

In summary:

If a councillor has a material personal interest, in a matter before the meeting:

Under s.175C Local Government Act 2009, the councillor must inform the meeting of the
councillor’s material personal interest in the matter, including the following particulars:

e The name of the person or other entity who stands to gain benefit or suffer a loss from the
outcome of the consideration of the matter at the meeting;

e  How the person or other entity stands to gain the benefit or suffer the loss;

e [f the person or other entity who stands to gain the benefit or suffer the loss is not the
councillor, the nature of the councillor’s relationship to the person or entity.

If the councillor has a material personal interest they must leave the meeting, including any area
set aside for the public while the matter is discussed and voted on, unless the councillor has
approval from the Minister to be present while the matter is discussed and voted on pursuant to
section 175F.

Record of material personal interest

Under s.175J of the Local Government Act 2009, if a councillor has a material personal interest
under section 175C of the Local Government Act 2009, the following information must be recorded
in the minutes of the meeting, and published on the local government’s website—

(a) the name of the councillor who has the material personal interest in the matter;

(b) the material personal interest including the particulars mentioned in section 175C(2)(a) as
described by the councillor;

(c) whether the councillor participated in the meeting, or was present during the meeting, under an
approval given by the Minister under section 175F.
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If a councillor has a conflict of interest (a real conflict of interest), or could reasonably be taken

to have a conflict of interest (a perceived conflict of interest) in a matter before the meeting:

The councillor must, under s.175E of the Local Government Act 2009, inform the meeting about the
councillor’s personal interests in the matter, including the following particulars:

e The nature of the interest;

e [f the personal interest arises because of the councillor’s relationship with, receipt of a gift
from, another person-

- The name of the other person;
- The nature of the relationship or the value and date of the receipt of gift; and
- The nature of the other person’s interest in the matter.

If the other councillors in the meeting are informed about a councillor’s personal interests in a
matter and the councillor has not voluntarily left the meeting while the matter is discussed and
voted on, the other councillors must decide:

e  Whether there is a real or perceived conflict; and
e If the councillors decide that there is a real or perceived conflict, whether the councillor-

- Must leave the meeting including any area set aside for the public, while the matter is
voted on and discussed; or
- May participate in the meeting in relation to the matter, including voting on the matter.

Record of conflict of interest

Under s.175J of the Local Government Act 2009, if a councillor has a conflict of interest under
section 175E, the following information must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting, and
published on the local government’s website—

(a) the name of the councillor who has a real conflict of interest or perceived conflict of interest in
the matter;

(b) the councillor’s personal interests in the matter, including the particulars mentioned in section
175E(2) as described by the councillor;

(c) the decisions made by the other councillors in relation to the existence and nature of the conflict
and whether the councillor was permitted to participate in the meeting in relation to the matter,
and the reasons for the decisions;

(d) whether the councillor participated in the meeting, or was present during the meeting, under
an approval under section 175F;

(e) if the councillor voted on the matter—how the councillor voted on the matter;

(f) how the majority of councillors who were entitled to vote at the meeting voted on the matter.

Duty to report another councillor’s material personal interest or conflict of interest

Section 175G of the Local Government Act 2009 imposes an obligation on councillors to report
undisclosed material personal interests and conflicts of interest at a meeting relating to other
councillors.

If a councillor at a meeting reasonably believes, or reasonably suspects:

e That another councillor at a meeting has a material personal interest or a real or perceived
conflict in a matter; and
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e The other councillor has not informed the meeting about the interest under section 175C(2) or
175E(2);

The councillor who has the belief or suspicion, must as soon as practicable, inform the person who

is presiding at the meeting about the facts and circumstances that form the basis of the belief or
suspicion.
Note: Section 175H makes it an offence for a person to prejudice, intimidate or harass a councillor or another person

take action that is likely to be detrimental to a councillor because a councillor has complied with their disclosure
obligation under s.175G

12 REPORTS FROM THE OFFICE OF THE CEO

Nil
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13 REPORTS FROM ORGANISATIONAL SERVICES

13.1 AUGUST 2019 MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORT

Objective Reference:

Authorising Officer: Deborah Corbett-Hall, Chief Financial Officer
Responsible Officer: Deborah Corbett-Hall, Chief Financial Officer

Report Author: Udaya Panambala Arachchilage, Corporate Financial Reporting Manager
Attachments: 1.  August 2019 Monthly Financial Report
PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to note the year to date financial results as at 31 August 2019.

BACKGROUND

Council adopts an annual budget and then reports on performance against the budget on a
monthly basis. This is not only a legislative requirement but enables the organisation to
periodically review its financial performance and position and respond to changes in community
requirements, market forces or other outside influences.

ISSUES
Timing of general meeting in September 2019

There was only one general meeting early in September where the actual financial performance
for the financial year up to the end of August 2019 could be reviewed. However, it was not
possible for Council’s financial report to be completed by the date of that meeting, hence a high
level report was presented at the September general meeting. The full monthly financial report for
August 2019 is presented to Council at the general meeting on 9 October 2019.

Opening balances for 2019-20 financial year

The 2018-19 annual financial statements were audited by the Queensland Audit Office (QAO)
during August and September 2019. Certification of the financial statements is expected from QAO
in October 2019. As such, the financial position for August 2019 may adjust over the coming
months.

Capital carryover budget 2018-19

Council adopted a carryover budget on 28 August 2019 to accommodate capital works straddling
two financial years. The attached monthly financial report for August includes the carryover
budget although as outlined above, the final audited 2018-19 balance sheet accounts will
influence the opening balances and budgeted key performance indicators in 2019-20. Until the
accounts have been finalised, the monthly financial report will reconcile to the financial
management system.

STRATEGIC IMPLICATIONS

Council has either achieved or favourably exceeded the following key financial stability and
sustainability ratios as at the end of August 2019. As this is only the second month of the year,
trends will start to emerge as the first quarter progresses.

e Operating surplus ratio

e Net financial liabilities

e Ability to pay our bills — current ratio
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e Ability to repay our debt — debt servicing ratio

e Cash balance

e Cash balances — cash capacity in months

e Longer term financial stability — debt to asset ratio
e Operating performance

e |nterest coverage ratio

The following ratios did not meet the target at the end of August 2019:

e Asset sustainability ratio
e Level of dependence on general rate revenue

The asset sustainability ratio did not meet the target at the end of August 2019 and continues to
be a stretch target for Council with renewal spends of $1.59M and depreciation expense of
$9.19M vyear to date on infrastructure assets. This ratio is an indication of how Council currently
maintains, replaces and renews its existing infrastructure assets as they reach the end of their
useful life. Capital spend on non-renewal projects increases the asset base and therefore increases
depreciation expense, resulting in a lower asset sustainability ratio.

Council’s Capital Works Prioritisation Policy (POL-3131) demonstrates its commitment to
maintaining existing infrastructure and the adoption of a renewal strategy for its existing assets
ahead of ‘upgrade’ and/or ‘new’ works.

The level of dependence on general rate revenue ratio moves in line with the rating cycle and for
August 2019 it is 41.74% which is just outside the target range of less than 40%. As the financial
year progresses, receipt of grant revenue is expected to reduce this ratio to standard levels.

Legislative Requirements

The August 2019 financial reports are presented in accordance with the legislative requirement of
section 204(2) of the Local Government Regulation 2012, requiring the Chief Executive Officer to
present the financial report to a monthly Council meeting.

Risk Management

The August 2019 financial reports have been noted by the Executive Leadership Team and relevant
officers who can provide further clarification and advice around actual to budget variances.

Financial

There is no direct financial impact to Council as a result of this report; however it provides an
indication of financial outcomes at the end of August 2019.

People

Nil impact expected as the purpose of the attached report is to provide financial information to
Council based upon actual versus budgeted financial activity.

Environmental

Nil impact expected as the purpose of the attached report is to provide financial information to
Council based upon actual versus budgeted financial activity.

Social

Nil impact expected as the purpose of the attached report is to provide financial information to
Council based upon actual versus budgeted financial activity.
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Alignment with Council's Policy and Plans
This report has a relationship with the following items of Council’s 2018-2023 Corporate Plan:
8. Inclusive and ethical governance

Deep engagement, quality leadership at all levels, transparent and accountable democratic
processes and a spirit of partnership between the community and Council will enrich
residents’ participation in local decision-making to achieve the community’s Redlands 2030
vision and goals.

8.2 Council produces and delivers against sustainable financial forecasts as a result of best
practice Capital and Asset Management Plans that guide project planning and service
delivery across the city.

CONSULTATION
Consulted Date Comment
Y A
Council departmental officers ear to;lg;g ugust Consulted on financial results and outcomes
Y to date A t
Financial Services Group officers ear 02313 ugus Consulted on financial results and outcomes
Executive Leadership Team and Senior Year to date August Recipients of variance analysis between actual
Leadership Team 2019 and budget. Consulted as required
OPTIONS
Option One

That Council resolves to note the financial position, results and ratios for August 2019 as
presented in the attached Monthly Financial Report.

Option Two
That Council resolves to request additional information.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION

That Council resolves to note the financial position, results and ratios for August 2019 as
presented in the attached Monthly Financial Report.
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1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This monthly report illustrates the financial performance and position of Redland City Council compared to its adopted budget at an organisational
level for the period ended 31 August 2019. The year to date annual revised budget referred to in this report incorporates the changes from budget
capital carryovers adopted by Council on 28 August 2019

The opening balances for the current year were audited by Queensland Audit Office (QAQ). As such, the financial position for the month of August
may adjust over the coming months until Council receives QAO certification in October 2019

Key Financial Highlights and Overview

Annual YTD YTD YTD YTD Status

Key Financial Results ($000) Revised Revised Actual e Variance % Favourable
Budget Budget Unfavourable

Opera I'I% urplus [ 195 , 1,117

ecurrent Revenue 297,572 61,213 60,595 (618) -1% x
Recurrent Expenditure 297,377 46,760 45,025 (1,735) 4% 4
Capital Works Expend-ilure 78,599 12,765 4,668 (8,097) -63% v
Closing Cash & Cash Equivalents 167,928 173,762 173,942 180 0% v

Council reported an operating surplus for the month of $15.57M. Bulk water consumption is lower than expected, resulting in lower than expected
revenue. The favourable variance in recurrent expenditure is mainly due to underspend in bulk water costs and contractor costs. As this is the
second month of the year, trends will start to emerge as the first quarter progresses.

Capital grants, subsidies and contributions are above budget due to timing of developer cash contributions.

Council's capital works expenditure is below budget by $8 10M due to timing of works for a number of infrastructure projects

Constrained cash reserves represent 65% of the cash balance.

Page 2 of 14
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2. KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

[ Target met i Target exceeded [ Target not met

Operating Surplus Ratio (%) Asset Sustainability Ratio (%) Net Financial Liabilities (%)*
Between 0% and 10% Greater than 90% Less than 60%
Annual Revised Budget 0.07% Annual Revised Budget 59.86% Annual Revised Budget -31.82%

e -202.27%

Level of Dependence on General Rate Revenue (%) Ability te Pay Our Bills - Current Ratio Ability te Repay Our Debt - Debt Servicing Ratio (%
Less than 40% Between 1.1 and 4.1 Leas than or equal to 15%
Annual Revised Budget 34.30% Annual Revised Budget 3.61 Annugl Revised Budget 3.13%

Greater or equal to $50M Greater than 3 Months. Less than or equal to 10%
Annual Revised Budget $167.928 Annual Revised Budget 8.33 Annual Revised Budget 1.77%

$173.942
Operating Performance (%) Interest Coverage Ratio (%)™
Greater than or equal to 10% Less than 5%
Annual Revised Budget 24.76% Annual Revised Budget -0.87%

27.87%

* The net financial liabilities ratio exceeds the target range when current assets are greater than total liabilities (and the ratio is negative)
** The interest coverage ratio exceeds the target range when interest revenue is greater than interest expense (and the ratio is negative)

Page 3 of 14
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3. STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the period ending 31 August 2019

Annual Annual
Original Revised Revised _
Bugget Budget Budget As“m":' V‘;‘L‘;’B"e
$000 $000 $000
Recurrent revenue
104,953 104,953 25,818 26,007 189
152,328 152,328 25,862 25,021 (841)
(3,333) (3,333) (773) (784) (11)
14632 14,632 2415 2,282 (133)
925 925 142 238 9%
5231 5231 808 612 (196)
3,856 3,856 531 701 170
525 525 25 11 86
18,456 18 456 6,385 6,407 22
Recurrent expenses
90,372 90,372 15,5653 15,544 (9)
140,138 140,138 20,090 18,934 (1,156)
2 809 2,809 468 486 18
65,279 65,279 10,880 10,270 (610)
514 514 58 73 15
(1,735) (1,735) (289) (282) 7

OPERATING SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)

Capital revenue

24,492 25,436 4,185 6,469 2,284
3,480 3,480 576 - (576)

Capital expenses
112 112 5 (68) (73)

oicapitatexpenses |2l 2l 5 @)

ToTALINCOME 1" opssis|  oaesss|  essral  6roeal 1050
TOTALEXPENSES | oyrass|  oorass|  4eves|  é4serl (1a00)
NeTResuLT T T sl aagesl  ioaos|  zator| 2099

Other comprehensive income / (loss)

Items that will not be reclassified to a net resuit

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 28,056 28999  19,209] 22,107 2,898

=) Rediand
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3. STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - CONTINUED

LEVIES AND UTILITY CHARGES ANALYSIS
For the period ending 31 August 2019

Annual Annual YTD
Original
Budget Budget Budget 'swatuo“ ! V;':,%'El”
5000 $000 5000
Levies and utility charges
26,968 26,968 4,436 4338 (98)|
487 487 122 121 (1)
8,721 8,721 2,159 2,162 3
2,896 2,896 478 479 1
46,347 46,347 7,550 7,538 (12),
19,105 19,105 3,136 3,159 23
47,804 47,804 7,981 7224 (757)|
MATERIALS AND SERVICES ANALYSIS
For the period ending 31 August 2019
Annual Annual YTD
Original Revised Revised
Budget Budget Budget ‘s"ca'"o;' V;'L%'a”
000 $000 $000
Materials and services ) ) ) )
41,225 41,006 4,788 4,548 {240)
3291 3347 193 "7 (76)|
17,527 17,600 2674 2,654 (20)
50,161 50,205 8,079 7,378 {701)|
11,357 11,323 1,843 1,850 7|
6,138 6,138 988 903 (85),
3873 3873 528 547 19
3,080 3,080 477 430 (47)
1,195 1,195 197 178 (19),
1,649 1,729 212 198 (14),
642 642 111 131 20|
Total materials and services 140,138 140,138 18,934 {1,156)

* Other Councll oulsourcing costs are various oulsourced costs including refuse collection and disposal, waste disposal, legal services, frafflic control, external training,
valualion fees, elc.

** Community assistance costs represent community related costs including community grants, exhibitions and awards, donations and sponsorships.

Actuals - Total Revenue and Expenses ($000)

550,000
545,000
540,000
535,000
530,000
$25,000
$20,000
$15,000
510,000
5,000
S0
Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 Now-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20
s Rates charges s | evies and utility charges Note: Total revenue ﬂmwfﬁ
in line with the rating cycle.
mmmmm Operating grants, subsidies, contributions and donations e Fees General rates are levied
m— |nterest, investment and other revenue e Total expenses quarterly in  Jluly, October,
January and April.
Page 5 of 14 .57 Redland
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4. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 August 2019

Annual Annual
Criginal Revised Revised
Bulgget Budget Budget A::::I
$000 $000 $000
CURRENT ASSETS
170,027 167.928 173,762 173,942
30,532 34,609 34,074 35,991
936 923 955 936
- - . 11,113
1,765 2,340 5,025 5,572
Total current assets 203,260 205,800 213,816 227,554
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
1,091 1,091 1,091 1,091
2,555,393 2,562,000 2,544 462 2,536,254
968 712 1,504 1,767
8,278 8,278 9,289 9,301
73 73 73 73
25,904 24,214 24,214 13,101

Total non-current assets 2,591,706

TOTAL ASSETS 2,794,966

CURRENT LIABILITIES

2,596,368

2,802,168

2,580,633

2,794,449

2,561,587

2,789,141

23817 30,981 29,928 26,689
7,728 7.845 7.845 7,845
1,039 1,039 1,039 1,037
7,816 10,351 14,683 14,893
2,940 6,803 16,234 10,935

Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

33,400 33,283 21,780 21,833

7,412 7.412 8,278 8,176

14,752 13,409 13,408 13,580

Total non-current liabilities 55,563 54,104 43,466 43,589

TOTAL LIABILITIES 98,904 111,123 113,195 104,988

NET COMMUNITY ASSETS 2,696,062 2,691,045 2,681,254 2,684,153
COMMUNITY EQUITY

1,003,168 1,008.120 1,008,120 1,008,120

1,575,901 1,576,278 1,569,010 1,562,850

116,993 106,647 104,124 113,183

TOTAL COMMUNITY EQUITY

2,696,062

* From 1 July 2019, Australian Accounting Standard 16 Leases applies.

Page 6 of 14

2,691,045

2,681,254

.57 Redland

Item 13.1- Attachment 1

Page 15



GENERAL MEETING AGENDA 9 OCTOBER 2019

4. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - CONTINUED

Trade and Other Receivables (actual YTD) PPE Written Down Value (actual YTD)
W Rates - water 5000
53,306 ¥ Rates - unlevied B Stormwater sM
W Rates - general watar drainage " Water
net of 513,387 sa27 s287
impairment)
46,350 B Wastewater
. 5502
W Parks
= Other " Rates- B Roads 553
51,832 sewerage $620
51,799
Other
B Rates - other
63T resc:::rabla 51,803 W Plant and infrastructure
® Infringements equipment 0 Waste 5251
¥ Infrastructure W Sundry debtor [net of 522 B Buildings 514
Charges (PER) impairment) 579 B Land wip
55,037 3515 51,018 5259 522

RIGHT OF USE ASSETS

For the period ending 31 August 2019

Annual Annual
Original Revised Revised Actual
Budget Budget Budget Balance
$000 $000 $000 $000
Right of Use Asset
3.491| 3,491 4,008 4,008
4372 4372 4,827 4,827
415 415 454| 466

Closing balance 8,278 8,278

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (PPE) MOVEMENT*
For the period ending 31 August 2019

Annual Annual
Original Revised Revised Actual
Budget Budget Budget Balance
$000 $000 5000 $000
PPE movement
2,558,126' 2,541,881 2,541,881 ' 2,541,881
61,912 84,764 13,342 4,427
(63,114) (63,114) (10,519) (9,920)
(1.531) (1,531) (242) (142)
- - - 8
Closing balance 2,555,393 2,562,000 2,544,462 2,536,254

* This table includes mavement relating to praperty, plant and equipment onfy and is exclusive of intangible assets.
** Other adjustments include transfers between asset classes, revaluation adjustments, prior period adjustments and depreciation thereon.

Page 7 of 14 T Petiend
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5. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the period ending 31 August 2019

Annual Annual
Original Revised Revised
Bugget Budget Budget “:.f';;'
$000 $000 $000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
272,371 272,371 61,495 59,710

(237,536) (237,536) (40,018) (41,910)

5231 5231

925 925/ 141 | 239

16,097 16,097 5,787 954
(2,480) (2,480) (2,459) (2,416)

(266) (266) (44)

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(58.432) (78,599)| (12,765)| (4.415)
- - - (252)
1,419 1419 236 210,
24,492 25,436 4,185 5,069
d d ) 50

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from investing activities (32,521) (51,744)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
9,800 9,800 -] -

(5,527) (5,527) (6,527)

(1,039) (1,039) '

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities (5,700)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash held 25,055 5,832 11,666 11,846
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year / period 170,027 167,928 173,762
Cash Inflow (actual YTD) Cash Outflow (actual YTD)
Utility charges

IMaterials and

49%
services

47%

Rates charges

35% Fees

4% Employee costs
29%
Capital grants, Operating grants Payments for  |gorrowing costs
Other cash subsidies and Imterest received and Repayment of property, plant 4%
receipts contributions 1% contributions borrowings and equipmant
2% % 1% 11% 9%
Total Cash Funding (Actual YTD) 66,794| |Total Cash Expenditure (Actual YTD) 54,948
Total Cash Funding {Annual Revised Budget) 331,279 |Total Gash Expenditure (Annual Revised Budget) 325,447
% of Budget Achieved ¥YTD 20%| |% of Budget Achieved YTD 17%

* Reclassified amounts in original budget to align with Annual Financial Statements and permitted by Australian Accounting Standard AASB 107
Statement of Gash Flows.
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6. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

90,000 - Capital Works Expenditure - Goods and Services & Employee Costs
80,000 72,569 74686 78599
P Cumulative Actual Expenditure 67,172
70,000 - 61,730 & &
+ Cumulative Revised Budget 55,953
60,000 - : &
48,114 o
S 50,000 43,7117 &
3 40000 - 35,692
A

30,000 - 25,932

20,000 - 12,765

10000 | %219 -

616 4,668
Jul-19 Aug-19 Sep-19 Oct-19 MNoy-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20
Annual YTD
! YTD YTD
15 iz na Actual Variance
Budget Budget o $000
$000 $000
Capitalised goods and services 71,215 10,503 3,529 (6,974)
Capitalised employee costs 7.384 2,262 1,139 (1,123)

7. PROGRAM AND PROJECT UPDATE
Favourable lMeeling expectations lWilhin tolerance (either IUnlavourable (budget and

(budget under/schedule on track) (budget and schedule on track) budget or schedule not on track) schedule not on track)

Progress Evaluation

ap.ooo 100%
£o8e L
e i Programs and projects are what Council
60,000 o uses to introduce change to achieve
. F corporate outcomes. They allow new
g 50,000 infrastructure, products, systems,
§ o sk = procedures and services fo be delivered
g b . = Projects may be undertaken on a
% e au .Ii_" standalone basis or as part ofa prograrm.
g 30,000 FoA ‘; Programs and projects may span multiple
=7 financial years.
FoAms
20000 2005 Council is currently prqgressmg more than
10,000 100 programs and projects.
— 2% o 10
o | - -
Favou-able Meeling ExpeclzLlion  Wilhin Tolera e Unlaveur able

Notable Projects

The status of two notable projects are as follows

Project description Progress

Energy and Solar Program aims to explore the feasibility of renewable energy (solar farm) and energy management to Meeting
off-set increasing future electricity costs to Council through a number of projects. Expectations
Culvert Upgrade Woodlands Drive, Thornlands aims to enhance the transport network within Redlands and improve Meeting
freight movement within Redland City through upgrade of two culverts. Expectations

Page 9 of 14

Item 13.1- Attachment 1 Page 18



GENERAL MEETING AGENDA 9 OCTOBER 2019

8. INVESTMENT & BORROWINGS REPORT

For the period ending 31 August 2019

INVESTMENT RETURNS - QUEENSLAND TREASURY CORPORATION (QTC)

5% 330
’ [ 220 s Met Interest SM Closing Investment Balances
r Received 175
4% 5] 15000)
280 165
8% 1 g;g 8 —OTC Annual 155
250 2 Effective Rate
2% 240 # Ex-Fees 145
b 230 135
F 220
1% L2490 s Flezarve Bank
200 Cash Rate 125
140
Jun-19 Jul-19 Aug-19 lun-19 b5 A 19

Total Investment at End of Month was $173.53M

All Council investments are currently held in the Capital Guaranteed Cash Fund, which is a fund operated by the Queensland Treasury Corporation
[@Tc).

The movement in interest earned is indicative of both the interest rate and the surplus cash balances held, the latter of which is affected by business
cash flow requirements on a monthly basis as well as the rating cycle.

Note: the Reserve Bank reduced the cash rate down to 1.00% in the July 2019 silting.

On a daily basis, cash surplus to requirements is deposited with QTC to earn higher interest as QTC Is offering a higher rate than what is achieved
from Council's ransactional bank accounts. The current annual effective interest rate paid by QTC is 1.41%. Term deposit rates are being monitored
to identify investment opportunities to ensure Council maximises its interest earnings.

[ Gouncladopted its revised Investment Policy (POL-3013) In June 2019 for the 2019/2020 financlal year |
BORROWINGS AND BORROWING COSTS (QTC)

o 280 - 38.0

o

‘?}' 260 355 & s Actual

g 240 Y Debt Balance SM

£ 220 - EETV R

pr &

B 200 - P

£ 305

£ 180 - a Interest expense 5000
160 - 28.0

Aug-18  Sep-18  Oct1f Nev-18 Declf  Jands  Pebol® Mar18  ApelS May-19®  Jup-19 Jul1s Augls

The existing loan accounts were converted to fixed rate loans on 1 April 2016 following a QTC restructure of loans and policies. In line with Council's
debt policy, debt repayment of $7.95M, being $5.53M principal and $2.42M interest has been made annually for 2019/2020 which will result in the
loans being repaid approximately one year earlier.

The debt balance shows a decrease as the Annual Debt Service Payment (ADSP) was made during July 2019, Interest will accrue monthly on a daily
balance until next ADSP in July 2020 which is reflected in the increasing debt balance.

Total Borrowings at End of Month were $29.68M
General pool allocated to capital works is 99.68% and 0.32% is attributable to RedWaste.

U)) Redland

Page 10 of 14
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9. CONSTRAINED CASH RESERVES

SPEGIal PrDjEGE Reserve:

Weinam Creek Reserve Maintenance and improvements associated with Weinam Creek projects 1,542 (1) (1) 1,540
Waste Levy Reserve To fund Waste Levy Program - 4,620 (398) 4,222
Raby Bay Revetment Wall Reserve To fund Raby Bay revetment wall works program 1,765 467 (108) 2,124
Aquatic Paradise Revetment Wall Reserve To fund Aquatic Paradise revetment wall works program - 4 - 4
Fleet Plant & Capital Equipment Reserve To support the long term fleet replacement program 4.072 210 (7} 4,275
7,379 5,300 (514) 12,165|
Constrained Works Reserve:
Public Parks Trunk Infrastructure Reserve Capital projects for public parks trunk Infrastructure 7,898 1,099 (137) 8,860
Land for Community Facilities Trunk Infrastruture
Reserve Land for community facilities trunk infrastructure 2,551 173 - 2,724
Water Supply Trunk Infrastructure Reserve Upgrade, expansion or new projects for water supply trunk infrastructure 14,273 179 - 14,452
Sewerage Trunk Infrastructure Reserve Upgrade, expansion or new projects for sewerage trunk infrastructure 11,414 1,074 (8) 12,482
Constrained Works Res-Cap Grants & Contribs Unexpended capital grants and contributions received for specific projects 327 - (134) 193]
Local Roads Trunk Infrastructure Reserve Capital projects for local roads trunk infrastructure 33,680 2,135 (1,495) 34,320
Cycleways Trunk Infrastruciure Reserve Capital projects for cycleways trunk infrastructure 12,456 862 (68) 13,250
Stormwater Trunk Infrastructure Reserve Capital projects for stormwater trunk infrastructure 9,996 443 - 10,439
Censtrained Works Res-Opr Grants & Contribs Unexpended operating grants and contributions received for specific projects 224 - - 224
Tree Planting Reserve Acquisition and planting of trees on footpaths 85 8 (5) 88
Koala Tree off-set Planting Reserve Acquisition and planting of trees for koala habitat 142 - - 142]
93,048 5,973 (1,845) 97,174
Separate Charge Reserve:
Environment Charge Acquisition Reserve Acquisitions of land and facilities to support or enhance environmental outcomes 1,457 - - 1,457
Environment Charge Maintenance Reserve QOngoing conservation and maintenance operations - 2,162 (688) 1,474
SES Separate Charge Reserve Qn-going costs of maintaining the Redland SES 39 121 (99) 61
1,496 2,283 (787) 2,992
Special Charge Reserve - Canals:
Aquatic Paradise Canal Reserve Maintenance and repairs of Agualic Paradise canals 754 1 - 755
Sovereign Waters Lake Reserve Maintenance and repairs of Sovereign Lake 428 1 - 429
1718 Raby Bay Canal Reserve Service, facility or activity of works in respect of the canals of the Raby Bay canal estate 219 - - 219
1718 Aquatic Paradise Canal Reserve Service, facility or activity of works in respect of the canals of the Aquatic Paradise canal estate (495) - - (495)
1718 Sovereign Waters Lake Reserve Service, facility or activity of works in respect of the lake (56) - - (56)
850 2 - 852
Closing cash and cash equivalents 173,542]
Reserves as percenlage of cash balance 65%

Page 11 of 14 3 Rediand
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10. REDLAND WATER STATEMENTS
REDLAND WATER SUMMARY OPERATING STATEMENT

For the period ending 31 August 2019

Annual Annual YTD

Original Revised Revised )

Budget Budget Budget Feo00. R

$000 $000 $000
[Total revenue 116,436 116,436 19,173 18,551 (622)
Total expenses _ 66,474 66,473 10,636 10,035 (601)
Earnings before interest, tax and depreciation (EBITD) 49,963 49,963 8,537 8,516 (21)
Extemal interest expense 136 136 23 23]
Internal interest expense _ 14,867 14,867 2,478 2,478 -
Depreciation 23,823 23,823 3,970 4,034 64
Operating surplus | (ceficit) [t s 208 1981
REDLAND WATER CAPITAL FUNDING STATEMENT
For the period ending 31 August 2019

Annual Annual YTD

Original Revised Revised )

Budget Budget Budget m' Vi%%‘g:e

$000 £000 $000

Capital contributions, donations, grants and subsidies 2,537 2,537 423 1,253 830
Net transfer (to) / from constrained capital reserves (1,982) 295 (228) (1 ,245}: (1,017)
Non-cash contributions _ 3,399 3,399 566 - | (566)
Funding from utility revenue 4,172 7.576 631 178 (453)
Total sources of capital funding 8,126 13,807  1,392] 188
Confributed assets _ 3,399 3,399 566 - (566)
Capitalised expenditure | 4,179 9,859 735 66 (669)
Loan redemption _ 549 549 91 120 29
Total application of capital funds 8,126 13,807 1,392 186 (1,208)

11. REDWASTE STATEMENTS
REDWASTE OPERATING STATEMENT

For the period ending 31 August 2019

Annual LULUE] YTD

Crniginal Revised Revised 5

Budgel Budget Budgel As?.;':' V;‘;?”’!ce

$000 $000 $000

(Total revenue 33,701 33,70 9,347 9,234 (113)
Tolal expenses ' 26,197 26,197 4,302 4,201 (101)
Earnings before interest, tax and depreciation (EBITD) 7,504 7,504 5,045 5,033 (12)
External interest expense 1 31 5 5 -
Depreciation 278 278 46 50 4

Operating surplus / (deficit) 7,185 7,195 4,994

REDWASTE CAPITAL FUNDING STATEMENT
For the period ending 31 August 2019
Annual Annual
Original Revised

Budget Budget Budget
$000 $000 $000

Non-cash contributions - - . -
Funding from utility revenue
Total sources of capital funding
Capitalised expenditure
Loan redemption 138 138 99 112 13
Total application of capital funds

Actual Variance
$000 $000

Page 12 of 14 D twteed
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12. APPENDIX: ADDITIONAL AND NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Workforce Reporting

Council has an approved establishment of 862" headcount and 829 FTE.

No of Full Time Equivalents

1000 945 gq,é

800

2
jl

ul

7 776
600
400
173 168
200
4] - |

Aug

Full Time Equivalent Employees 2019/2020

Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb

mmmm Administration & Indoor staff Outdeer staff

s T2 |

* This consists of permanent fulltime employees 7671 (761 FTE) and pant-time employees 107 (68 FTE)

August 2019: Headcount

Department Level

Office of CEOQ
Organisational Senvices
Community and Customer Services 35 275 78 388
Infrastructure and Operations

Employee Type

Casual Full Time art Time Total

7 37 8 52
6 204 16 226

29 3341 17 380

Total

fid 850 1192 1,016

Nete: Full Time Equivalent Employees includes all full time employees at a value of 1 and all other employees, at a value less than 1. The table above
demonstrates the headcount by department. Following Ourspace, the table includes confract of service and lemporary persennel. It includes casual staff in
their non-substantive roles as at the end of the period where relevant,

Overdue Rates Debtors

Days % % $ %
owrdue | AU |oweraue | AU9'® |owrdue [ varance |Varance Comment
0-30| $7,241.298 9.5%| $6,377,163 8.7% $864,135 0.8% |Revenue Collection team confinues to monltor and work
31 -60 $2.959 0.0% $805 0.0% $2 154 0.0% with ratepayers who are unable to promptly meet thelr
6190 §389)  0.0%|  §1.615  0.0% s oy Rl R0 Rl
91-180| 52,255,536 3.0%| $2,150,374 2.9% $105,162 0.1%
=180| $3,999,128 5.3%| $3,927,897 5.4% §71,231 -0.1%
Total $13,499,310 17.8%|$12,457,854 17.0% $1,041,456 0.8%
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13. GLOSSARY

Key Terms

Written Down Value:

Work In Progress:

Operating Surplus Ratio™: Net Operating Surplus
Total Operating Revenue

Asset Sustainability Ratio*: Capital Expenditure on Replacement of Infrastructure Assets (Renewals)
Depreciation Expenditure on Infrastructure Assets

Net Financial Liabilities™: Total Liabilities - Current Assets
Total Operating Revenue

Level of Dependence on General Rate Revenue: General Rates - Pensioner Remissions
Total Operating Revenue - Gain on Sale of Developed Land

Current Ratio: Current Assels
Current Liabilities
Debt Servicing Ratio: Interest Expense*” + Loan Redemption

Total Operating Revenue - Gain on Sale of Developed Land

Cash Balance - $M: Cash Held at Period End

Cash Capacity in Months: Cash Held at Period End
[[Cash Operating Costs + Interest Expense] / Period in Year]

Longer Term Financial Stability - Debt to Asset Ratio: Current and Non-current loans
Total Assets
Operating Performance: Net Cash from Operations + Interest Revenue and Expense

Cash Operating Revenue + Interest Revenue

Interest Coverage Ratio: Net Interest Expense on Debt Service™
Total Operating Revenue

ted to be met on a monthly

Page 14 of 14
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13.2 MAKING LOCAL LAW NO. 7 (BATHING RESERVES) 2015
Objective Reference:
Authorising Officer:  John Oberhardt, General Manager Organisational Services

Responsible Officer: Tony Beynon, Group Manager Corporate Governance

Report Author: Kristene Viller, Policy and Local Laws Coordinator
Attachments: 1. Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No.7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015)
2019

2.  Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015
Community Consultation Submission Review
4. State Interest Check Report

w

PURPOSE
The purpose of this report is to:

1. Present the results of the community consultation process that was undertaken for Local Law
No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015.

2. Present the results of the State Interest Check undertaken on Local Law No. 7 (Bathing
Reserves) 2015.

3. Proceed with the making of Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves)
2015) 2019.

BACKGROUND

On 19 June 2019 Council resolved to amend Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015 following a
community consultation process. One of the amendments was to reduce the seaward boundary
at Wellington Point bathing reserve from 400m to 200m. Council was advised at the time that a
further report would be presented seeking approval to consult further with the community
regarding the seaward boundary.

At the General Meeting on 17 July 2019 Council resolved to commence the local law making
process for Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015 to reduce the seaward boundary of the
Wellington Point Bathing Reserve from 200m to a distance of up to 200m. The seaward boundary
will be set to no further than 100m unless an event is being held requiring a 200m boundary.
Council further resolved to commence a community consultation process, inviting submissions on
the proposed local law amendment.

The amendments to Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015 are detailed in the amending
instrument (Attachment 1).

Please note that in the consolidated version of Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015 the only
changes made are:

Section Amendment

Section 6(4)(d) Inserted ‘up to’ in front of 200m

Section 6(4)(d) Removed ‘of the imaginary line’ and replaced with
‘identified by the placement of marker buoys’.
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ISSUES
State Interest Check

In accordance with Council’s adopted local law making process a state interest check was
completed on Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015.

All relevant State Government Departments were invited to provide comments on the draft local
law. The Department of Agriculture and Fisheries raised some concerns, each of those concerns
has been reviewed and addressed in the State Interest Check Report (Attachment 4).

Public Interest Review

The Local Government Act 2009 (the Act) requires that any local law made with anti-competitive
provisions is to comply with the procedures prescribed under a regulation for the review of the
anti-competitive provisions. Review of the attached local laws found no anti-competitive
provisions were present.

Community Consultation

In accordance with Council’s adopted local law making process and Council’s resolution of 17 July
2019, community consultation was undertaken on Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015 to
allow the community the opportunity to provide comment on the proposed local law.
Submissions were invited from 7 August 2019 and 28 August 2019. All properly made submissions
were considered. As a result of the community consultation the amendment to the Local Law will
be to reduce the seaward boundary from 200m to up to 100m. The report detailing the
community feedback is provided in Attachment 3.

Local Law Implementation

Should Council make Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015) 2019)
attached to this report, notice must be given to the public within one month, through publication
in the Queensland Government Gazette and on Council’s website. The law comes into effect on
either the date published in the gazette or a date nominated by Council in the gazettal notice.

STRATEGIC IMPLICATIONS
Legislative Requirements

The Local Government Act 2009 Chapter 3, Part 1, provides power for local governments to make
and enforce local laws and sets the framework that the local governments must adhere to. Council
has adopted a Local Law Making Process that is consistent with the Local Government Act 2009
provisions. This process has been followed in the making of the local laws attached to this report.

The local laws have been drafted by Council’s external solicitors in accordance with the Local
Government Act 2009, the Guidelines for Drafting Local Laws issued by the Parliamentary Counsel
and the principles under the Legislative Standards Act 1992.

Part D of Council’s adopted Local Law Making Process (adopted 20 March 2019) sets out the
required steps for making the Amending Instrument. The first 6 steps in the Local Law Making
Process involve making the Amending Instrument and steps 7 to 10 relate to notifying the public
and Minister about the Amending Instrument.
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Risk Management
The risks associated with making the local law has been managed by:

a) ensuring the process to make the local law is in accordance with legislative standards and the
adopted Redland City Council Local Law Making Process;

b) comprehensive internal stakeholder engagement to ensure the local law will promote effective
governance to the community;

c) utilising external solicitors to draft the local law to ensure the legislative principles are
followed in the drafting; and

d) conducting a review of the identified anti-competitive provisions to ensure adherence to the
National Competition Policy Guidelines.

Financial

The cost of drafting the local law is funded through existing budget allocations within the Legal
Services Unit.

People

The local law will have an impact on the resourcing with the City Sports and Venues and
Compliance Services Units. It is anticipated that this work will be absorbed by current resourcing.

Environmental
There are no environmental implications.
Social

Local Government provides for the good governance of the local government area through their
local laws. Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015, attached to this report has the potential to
impact all members of the Redlands Community.

Community consultation provided the opportunity for community members to have their say on
the proposal through providing a submission. The attached Community Consultation Report
details the outcome of this consultation period (Attachment 3).

Alignment with Council's Policy and Plans

The process for making the proposed local law is in accordance with Council’s adopted practice for
making local laws.

This process is in keeping with Council’s Corporate Plan Priority 8, Inclusive and Ethical
Governance for deep engagement, quality leadership at all levels, transparent and accountable
democratic processes and a spirit of partnership between the community and Council.

CONSULTATION
Consulted Consultation Comments/Actions
Date
Service Manager City Sports July 2019 - e |Initial establishment of requirements;
and Venues August 2019 e  Provided feedback on community consultation
submissions; and
e Liaison with SLSQ
Senior Advisor Strategic July — August e Input into the community consultation approach.
Communication and 2019
Community Engagement
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Consultation

Consulted Comments/Actions
Date
Senior Advisor Community July — August Preparation of community consultation material;
Engagement 2019 Management of Yoursay site and data collection; and.
Provided input into the analysis of responses.
Group Manager Corporate July — August Review of report and attachments.
Governance 2019
Governance Service Manager July —August Reviewed the community consultation results and the
2019 final report requesting adoption of the local laws.
Policy and Local Laws July —August Prepared request for State Interest Check and reviewed
Coordinator 2019 results and prepared report;
Prepared community consultation plan;
Reviewed results and prepared community consultation
report;
Facilitated the drafting of amending instruments;
Conducted state interest checking process; and
Liaison with community groups.
External Solicitors July —August Prepared amending instruments and drafted amended
2019 consolidated local laws; and
Conducted anti-competitive assessments.
Elected Representatives July —August Division 1 Councillor was provided updates regarding the
2019 community consultation process.
Councillor received submissions from impacted
community groups.
State Government July —August Completed State Interest Checks.
Departments 2019
OPTIONS
Option One

That in accordance with Council’s Local Law Making Process adopted on 20 March 2019; pursuant
to section 29 of the Local Government Act 2009, Council resolves as follows:

1. To receive and note the Community Consultation Submission Review (Attachment 3) and to
implement the recommendations of this report.

2. Toreceive and note the State Interest Check (Attachment 4).

3. To proceed:

a. As advertised with the making of Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing

Reserves) 2015) 20189;

b. To make Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015) 2019;

c. To adopt the consolidated version of Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015;

d. To give notice of the making of Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing
Reserves) 2015) 2019 by publication in the Queensland Government Gazette.

4. To authorise the Chief Executive Officer to make any necessary administrative and formatting
amendments prior to gazettal.

Option Two
That Council resolves not to make Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves)
2015) 2019.
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OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION

That in accordance with Council’s Local Law Making Process adopted on 20 March 2019;
pursuant to section 29 of the Local Government Act 2009, Council resolves as follows:

1. To receive and note the Community Consultation Submission Review (Attachment 3) and to
implement the recommendations of this report.

2. To receive and note the State Interest Check (Attachment 4).
3. To proceed:

a. As advertised with the making of Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7
(Bathing Reserves) 2015) 2019;

b. To make Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015) 2019;
c¢. To adopt the consolidated version of Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015;

d. To give notice of the making of Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing
Reserves) 2015) 2019 by publication in the Queensland Government Gazette.

4. To authorise the Chief Executive Officer to make any necessary administrative and
formatting amendments prior to gazettal.
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Redland

CITY COUNCIL

Amending Local Law No. 5
(Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves)

2015) 2019

It 1s hereby certified that this a true and correct copy of Amending
Local Law No. 5(Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015) 2019 made, in accordance with the Local
Government Act 2009, by the Council of the City of Redland,
by resolution dated 9 October 2019

A Chesterman
Chief Executive Officer
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Redland

CITY COUNCIL

Redland City Council

Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7
(Bathing Reserves) 2015) 2019

Contents
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i
Rediand City Council
Amending Local Law No. 3
(Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015) 2019

Redland City Council
Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing
Reserves) 2015) 2019

Part 1 Preliminary

1 Short title

This amending local law may be cited as Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local
Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015) 2019.

2 Object

The object of this amending local law is to amend Local Law No. 7
(Bathing Reserves) 2015 to reduce the outer boundary of the bathing area at
Wellington Point bathing reserve.

3 Commencement

This amending local law commences on the date of publication of the
notice of the making of Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7
(Bathing) 2015) 2019 in the gazette.

Part 2 Amendment of Local Law No. 7 (Bathing
Reserves) 2015

4 Local Law Amended
The Amending Local Law No. 5 (Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 20135)
2019 amends Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 20135.

5 Amendment of s 6 (Bathing areas)
(1) Section 6(4)(d), 200m’
omit, insert—
up to 100m —
2) Section 6(4)(d), ‘of, the imaginary line’ —
omit, insert —

, identified by the placement of marker buoys.
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Redland

CITY COUNCIL

Redland City Council

Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves)
2015

It 1s hereby certified that this a true and correct copy of Local Law No. 7(Bathing Reserves) 2015 made,
in accordance with the Local Governmment Act 2009, by the Council of the City of Redland,
by resolution dated 9 October 2019

A Chesterman
Chief Executive Officer
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Part 1

Preliminary

1 Short title

This local law may be cited as Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 20135.

2 Purpose and how it is to be achieved

(M

@

The purpose of this local law is to enhance the public safety and convenience of

bathing reserves placed under the local government’s control! through orderly

management and regulation of activities within these reserves.

The purpose is achieved by providing for—

(a) the designation and management of safe. supervised bathing areas within
bathing reserves; and

(b) the regulation of conduct and the use of aquatic equipment within
bathing reserves; and

(c) the assignment of responsibility to life-saving clubs for managing,
patrolling and supervising bathing reserves; and

(d) the appointment and powers of authorised persons to manage and
enforce the regulation of conduct within bathing reserves.

3 Definitions—the dictionary

The dictionary in the schedule defines particular words used in this local law.

4 Relationship with other laws?

(1) This local law is to be read with Local Law No. 1 (Administration) 2015.

(2) However, a reference to an authorised person in Local Law No. 1
(Administration) 2015 does not include an authorised person appointed under
this local law.

Part 2 Bathing reserves
Division 1 Designation of bathing reserves
5 Signs indicating existence of bathing reserve

(1) If the local government proposes to regulate the use of a bathing reserve under
this local law, the local government must erect and maintain signs (reserve
signs) 1n prominent positions on or adjacent to the foreshore to indicate the
existence of the bathing reserve.

(2) Reserve signs must be erected at the lateral boundaries of the bathing reserve
indicating the position of the boundaries.

(3) The signs must face both seawards and shorewards.

! As declared by gazette notice under the Act.

2 Thus local law and any subordinate local law made under it do not apply to the extent of any inconsistency
with a law of the State or the Commonwealth. See the Act, section 27.
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Division 2 Bathing areas

6 Bathing areas

(1) An authorised person may mark out an area (a bathing area) within a bathing
Teserve.

(2) The area selected as a bathing area must be the part of the bathing reserve that
is, in the authorised person’s opinion, the safest and most suitable for bathing in
view of the prevailing conditions.

(3) The bathing area is marked out by placing 2 patrol flags at different points on or
adjacent to the foreshore.

(4)  The bathing area consists of the area defined by—
(a) an imaginary line between the 2 patrol flags: and

(b) lateral boundaries extending seaward from each patrol flag at right
angles from the imaginary line; and

(c) for all bathing reserves other than Wellington Point—an outer boundary
parallel to, and 400 metres to the seaward side of, the imaginary line; and

(d) for Wellington Point bathing reserve—an outer boundary parallel to, and
up to 100 metres to the seaward side, identified by the placement of
marker buoys.

(5) Where the boundary of the bathing reserve is less than 400 metres to the seaward
side of an imaginary line between the 2 patrol flags. then the boundary of the
bathing area shall be the outer boundary of the bathing reserve.

(6) An authorised person may, in view of prevailing conditions. change the
boundaries of a bathing area by changing the position of the patrol flags.

(M Patrol flags must not be exhibited if the bathing area is not under surveillance
by a life-saving patrol.
7 Flags to inform bathers about prevailing conditions
(1) This section applies if—
(a) an authorised person has marked out a bathing area under section 6; and

(b) in the authorised person’s opinion, there are potentially hazardous
conditions prevailing within the bathing area.

(2) The authorised person must exhibit in a prominent position on or adjacent to the
foreshore a yellow flag warning bathers of the potentially hazardous conditions.

8 Closure of bathing reserve

(D An authorised person may close a bathing reserve or part of a bathing reserve to
bathing by erecting a red flag in a prominent position on or adjacent to the
foreshore.’

Example—

3 Although this local law does not require strict compliance with Australian Standard No. 2416 (Design and
Application of Water Safety Signs), that standard should, where practicable, be complied with.
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The authorised person may close the bathing reserve 1f the prevailing conditions pose a risk
to the lives of members of the public bathing i the reserve.

(2) If patrol flags marking out a bathing area have been placed in position, the patrol
flags must be removed on closure of the bathing reserve or a part of the bathing
reserve in which the bathing area is situated.

(3) A person must not bathe in a bathing reserve or part of a bathing reserve while
the reserve or the relevant part of the reserve is closed to bathing.

Maximum penalty for subsection (3)—20 penalty units.
Division 3 Reservation for training, competitions and special
occasions
9 Reservation for life-saving training

(1) An authorised person may—

(a) temporarily set apart the whole or a part of a bathing reserve for life-
saving training; and
(b) impose restrictions on access to the area set apart.

(2) However an authorised person may not set apart any part of a bathing reserve
for life-saving training exclusively.

(3)  Anarea set apart under this section, and the restrictions applying to access, must

be clearly indicated by signs erected in prominent positions on the bathing
reserve.

10 Reservation for competitions and special occasions

M

@

3

For the purposes of Local Law No.I (Administration) 2015, section 5(b), it is a

prescribed activity* to—

(a) set apart a bathing reserve or a part of a bathing reserve for life-saving
training on an exclusive basis; or

(b) use any part of a bathing reserve for the conduct of a surfing competition,
a life-saving competition or another aquatic activity.

Where an approval for an activity mentioned in subsection (1) permits
restrictions on access to any part of a bathing reserve, the area set apart for the
activity and the restrictions applying to access must be clearly indicated by signs
erected in prominent positions on the bathing reserve.

A person must not contravene a restriction on access imposed under this section.
Maximum penalty for subsection (3)—20 penalty units.

* Local Law No.l (Administration) 2015, section 6, creates an offence for a person to undertake a prescribed
activity without a current approval granted by the local government. Section 7 requires that the approval be
obtained under part 2 of that local law.
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Part 3 Use of aquatic equipment in bathing
reserves

1 Prohibition of use of aquatic equipment in bathing areas

(1) A person must not use aquatic equipment in a bathing area.
Maximum penalty for subsection (1)—20 penalty units.

(2) However

(a) this section does not prevent the use of aquatic equipment if its use at a
place within a bathing reserve is authorised under another law; and

(b) a rubber float or board that does not give rise to risk of injury to other
bathers may be used in a bathing area; and

(c) if an authorised person authorises the use of other aquatic equipment in
a bathing area, the equipment may be used subject to conditions fixed by
the authorised person when giving the authorisation; and

(d)  life-saving equipment may be used in a bathing area by members of a
life-saving patrol for surveillance of the bathing area or to assist bathers
in distress.

12 Restrictions on use of aquatic equipment in bathing reserves

(D The local government may, by subordinate local law, prohibit or restrict the use
of aquatic equipment or a specified class of aquatic equipment within a bathing
reserve or a particular part of a bathing reserve.

(2) Notice of a prohibition or restriction imposed under this section must be
included on the reserve signs or on notices adjacent to the reserve signs.

(3) A person must not use aquatic equipment in contravention of a prohibition or
restriction imposed under this section unless authorised to do so by an authorised
person under section 13. or authorised under another law.

Maximum penalty for subsection (3)—20 penalty units.

13 Reservation of areas for use of aquatic equipment

(1) An authorised person may temporarily set apart a particular part of a bathing
reserve for the use of aquatic equipment of a particular type.

(2) A part of the bathing reserve set apart under this section must be defined by signs
and flags or in some other way that clearly indicates the relevant part of the
reserve and the use for which it is set apart.

(3) If a part of a bathing reserve is set apart for the use of aquatic equipment of a
particular type under this section, a person must not—

(a) use aquatic equipment of the relevant type in the bathing reserve outside
the part of the reserve set apart for its use; or

(b) use aquatic equipment, in the relevant part of the reserve, that is not of
the type for which the relevant part of the reserve is set apart.

Maximum penalty for subsection (3)—20 penalty units.
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Part 4 Behaviour in bathing reserves

14 Dangerous objects

(1) A person must not bring an item of aquatic equipment or other object into a
bathing reserve, or use aquatic equipment or anything else in a bathing reserve,
if the item or object is dangerous.

Maximum penalty for subsection (1)—20 penalty units.

(2) This section does not apply to life-saving equipment used by members of a life-
saving patrol for surveillance of the bathing reserve or to assist bathers in
distress.

15 Prohibited equipment

(D A person must not have prohibited equipment in a bathing reserve.

Maximum penalty for subsection (1)—20 penalty units.

(2) However, this section does not apply in circumstances excluded under a
subordinate local law from the application of this section.

(3) In this section—
prohibited equipment means—
(a) a spear gun; or
(b) a fishing spear; or
(c) another object classified as prohibited equipment under a subordinate local
law for this paragraph.
16 Dangerous conduct

A person must not use aquatic equipment or anything else in a bathing reserve
in a way that creates a risk to the safety of others.

Maximum penalty—20 penalty units.

17 Emergency evacuation alarm

(1) If an emergency evacuation alarm is given, a person within a bathing reserve—
(a) must leave the water as soon as practicable; and
(b) must not enter or re-enter the water until the all-clear is given.
Maximum penalty for subsection (1)—20 penalty units.

(2) An emergency evacuation alarm is given by—
(a) the prolonged ringing of a bell or sounding of a siren; and
(b) the exhibition of a red flag.

(3) The all-clear is given by—
(a) a short ringing of the bell or sounding of the siren: and
(b) the replacement of the red flag by a yellow flag.

(4) An emergency evacuation and the all-clear may also be given in ways
recognised by SLSQ.
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Example
The emergency evacuation alarm may be given by holding up a red and white quartered flag
and the all-clear may be given by taking down the flag when the danger has passed.
18 False alarms
A person must not, without the authority of an authorised person—

(@) give an emergency evacuation alarm or do anything likely to be
reasonably interpreted as an emergency evacuation alarm; or

(b) give the all-clear after an emergency evacuation alarm or do anything
likely to be reasonably interpreted as the all-clear after an emergency
evacuation alarm.

Maximum penalty—>50 penalty units.

Part5 Life-saving clubs and powers of authorised
persons
Division 1 Life-saving clubs and patrols

19 Recognised life-saving clubs

(1) The local government may, after consultation with interested life-saving clubs,
assign to a life-saving club the responsibility for patrolling a bathing reserve or
a particular part of a bathing reserve.

(2) The responsibility—

(a) may be assigned on conditions the local government considers
appropriate; and

(b) may only be assigned with the agreement of the club to which the
responsibility 1s assigned.
20 Enclosure for life-saving patrols

A recognised life-saving club may, with the local government’s written
approval, enclose a part of a bathing reserve for the exclusive use of members
of life-saving patrols.

21 Distinctive clothing

A member of a life-saving patrol must wear a distinctive uniform appropriate to
the member’s rank in a design approved by SLSQ.

Division 2 Powers of authorised persons

22 Power to remove or reduce danger

(D) If a person brings a dangerous object or dangerous item of aquatic equipment
onto a bathing reserve, an authorised person may direct the person to take
specified action to remove or reduce the danger posed by the object or item.

Example
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If a person brings a beach umbrella onto a bathing reserve and the umbrella appears likely to
blow away, an authorised person might direct the person to take specified action to secure
the umbrella.

(2) A person must comply with a direction under this section.

Maximum penalty for subsection (2)—20 penalty units.

23 Power to stop dangerous and antisocial conduct

(1) If a person behaves in a bathing reserve in a way that endangers the safety of the
person or someone else. or causes a nuisance to someone else, an authorised
person may direct the person to stop the behaviour.

(2) A person must comply with a direction under this section.

Maximum penalty for subsection (2)—20 penalty units.

24 Power to require bathers to leave water
(1) An authorised person may give a direction to a bather to leave the water if—

(a) the bathing reserve, or the relevant part of the bathing reserve, is closed
to bathing; or

(b) an emergency evacuation alarm has been given; or
(c) there is some other risk to the bather’s safety.
(2) A person must comply with a direction under this section.

Maximum penalty for subsection (2)—20 penalty units.

25  Seizure and detention of dangerous objects and prohibited equipment
(1) This section applies if, in a bathing reserve, a person—

(a) possesses. uses or has used a dangerous object or dangerous item of
aquatic equipment; or

(b) uses or has used an object in a dangerous way; or
(c) has prohibited equipment.
(2) An authorised person may seize the object, item or equipment (the seized thing).

(3) The authorised person must give the person from whom the seized thing is taken
a receipt—

(a) stating the nature of the seized thing; and
(b) stating the date and time of seizure; and

(c) stating a period (which must be at least 1 hour and not more than 6
months) for which the seized thing is to be detained; and

(d) stating a place where the seized thing may be reclaimed.

(€)) The seized thing must, if not reclaimed on the day on which it was seized, be
delivered into the custody of the local government or the life-saving club of
which the authorised person is a member.

(5) The local government or the relevant life-saving club must take all reasonable
measures to ensure the safe custody of the seized thing.

(6) At the conclusion of the period fixed for its detention under subsection (3)(c), if
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the seized thing is in the custody of a life-saving club it must be delivered into
the custody of the local government.

At the conclusion of the period fixed for its detention under subsection (3)(c).
the seized thing must be dealt with by the local government as an impounded
item under Local Law No.1 (Administration) 2013, section 40.

Authorised persons

Who are authorised persons

The following persons are authorised persons for this local law—

(@) a person who is an authorised person under a subordinate local law for this
paragraph;

(b) a person appointed as an authorised person for this local law under this
section.

Example for paragraph (a)—

. The subordinate local laws might provide that a person who holds a particular rank in a
life-saving patrol 1s an authorised person.

. The subordinate local laws might provide that a life guard or a beach inspector 1s, while
he or she holds that position, an authorised person.

A local government may appoint any of the following persons as authorised
persons for this local law—

(a) employees of the local government;

(b) other persons who are eligible for appointment as authorised persons
under the Act.”

An appointment of a person as an authorised person under this section must state
the provisions of this local law for which the person is appointed as an authorised
person.

A local government may appoint a person as an authorised person under this
section only if—

(a) the local government considers the person has the necessary expertise or
experience for the appointment; or

(b) the person has satisfactorily finished training approved by the local
government for the appointment.

Limitation on authorised person’s powers

@)
Part 6
26
(1)
(2)
3)
€))
27
28

An authorised person’s powers may be limited in the person’s instrument of
appointment or under a subordinate local law for this section.

Authorised person’s appointment conditions

ey

@

An authorised person holds office on the conditions stated in the instrument of
appointment or a subordinate local law for this subsection.

An authorised person—

3 See the Act, chapter 6, part 6.
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3)

(a) if the imnstrument or subordinate local law provides for a term of
appointment—ceases holding office at the end of the term; and

(b) if appointed as an authorised person under section 26(1)(b}—may resign
by signed notice of resignation given to the local government; and

(c) if the person holds a particular rank or position, and is an authorised
person under a subordinate local law because he or she holds the relevant
rank or position—ceases holding office as an authorised person on
ceasing to hold the relevant rank or position; and

(d) if the conditions of appointment provide—ceases holding office as an
authorised person on ceasing to hold another office stated in the
appointment conditions (the main office).

However, an authorised person may not resign from the office of authorised
person (the secondary office) under subsection (2)(b) if a condition of the
authorised person’s employment in the main office requires the authorised
person to hold the secondary office.

29 Authorised person’s identity card

1

@)

3)

)

®)

Each authorised person must hold an identity card issued by the local government
or a recognised life-saving club.

An identity card issued by the local government must—

(a) contain a recent photograph of the authorised person; and

(b) be signed by the authorised person; and

(c) identify the person as an authorised person for the local government; and
(d) include an expiry date.

An identity card issued by a recognised life-saving club must—

(a) contain a recent photograph of the authorised person or state the authorised
person’s date of birth; and

(b) be signed by the authorised person; and
(©) identify the person as an authorised person for the life-saving club; and
(d) include an expiry date.

A person who ceases to be an authorised person must return the person’s identity
card to the local government or the life-saving club that issued it within 21 days
after the person ceases to be an authorised person.

Maximum penalty for subsection (4)}—10 penalty units.

This section does not prevent the giving of a single identity card to a person for this
part and for other purposes.

30 Production of identity card

(»

An authorised person may exercise a power in relation to someone else (the
other person) only if the authorised person—

(a) first produces his or her identity card for the other person’s inspection:
or

(b) has the identity card displayed so it is clearly visible to the other person.
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(2) However, if for any reason it is not practicable to comply with subsection (1),
the authorised person must produce the identity card for the other person’s
inspection at the first reasonable opportunity.

31 Offence
A person must not pretend to be an authorised person or a member of a life-
saving patrol.
Maximum penalty—350 penalty units.
32 Protection from liability
(D This section applies to—
(a) an authorised person; and
(b) a person acting under the direction of an authorised person.
(2) The person does not incur civil liability for an act done or omission made
honestly and without negligence under this local law.
(3) A liability that would, apart from this section, attach to the person attaches
instead to the local government.
Part7 Miscellaneous
33 Compliance with Australian standards
(1) The flags and signs to be used for the purposes of this local law should comply
with any relevant Australian Standard issued or approved by the Standards
Association of Australia.
(2) However, non-compliance with an applicable standard does not invalidate
anything done under this local law.
34 Obstruction of authorised persons and life-savers
(D A person must not obstruct an authorised person or a member of a life-saving
patrol in the conduct of their duties.
Maximum penalty for subsection (1)—50 penalty units.
(2) A person must not use insulting or abusive language to an authorised person or
a member of a life-saving patrol.
Maximum penalty for subsection (2)—20 penalty units.
35 Interference with flags and life-saving equipment

(1) A person must not, without the approval of an authorised person, damage,
destroy or interfere with a sign or flag erected or placed under this local law.

Maximum penalty for subsection (1)—50 penalty units.

(2) A person must not, without the approval of an authorised person, interfere with
life-saving equipment on a bathing reserve.

Maximum penalty for subsection (2)—50 penalty units.
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36 Subordinate local laws
The local government may make subordinate local laws about—
(a) prohibiting or restricting the use of aquatic equipment;® or
(b) the classification of objects as prohibited equipment;’ or

(c) the circumstances in which a person may have prohibited equipment in

a bathing reserve:® or

(d) the appointment of authorised persons for this local law;’ or
(e) the limitation of an authorised person’s powers;!° or

) conditions of office for authorised persons.!!

& See section 12(1).

" See section 15(3)

¥ See section 15(2).

? See section 26(1)(a)
10 5ee section 27.

Il gee section 28(1).
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Schedule Dictionary

Section 3

aquatic equipment means—
(a) aboat or vessel; or

(b) asurfski; or

(¢) ajetski; or

(d) asurfboard: or

(e) asail board; or

(f) abody board; or

(g) another device (whether motorised or not) for use on or in water to carry a person or thing
across or through water or for recreational use in water.

authorised person means a person who is an authorised person for this local law under part 6.

bathing includes all activities involving the immersion or partial immersion of the body in
water.

bathing area see section 6.
bathing reserve—

(a) means a part of the seashore, adjacent land under the sea, and sea placed under the control
of the local government as a bathing reserve under the Act; and

(b) includes each area of bathing reserve identified in schedule 6 of Subordinate Local Law
No. 4 (Local Government Controlled Areas, Facilities and Roads) 2015.

dangerous item of aquatic equipment means an item of aquatic equipment that is of such a
nature that, in the absence of care or precaution in its use or management, the life, safety or
health of any person may be endangered.

Examples of dangerous items of aquatic equipment—
e A surfboard with sharp or broken edges.
e Aboat with projections liable to cause imjury to bathers

dangerous object means an object that is of such a nature that, in the absence of care or
precaution in its use or management, the life, safety or health of any person may be endangered.

life-saving club means a body—
(a) affiliated with—

(i) SurfLife Saving Queensland Inc (SLSQ); or

(i1) the Head Centre of the Royal Life Saving Society; and
(b) accredited by the Department of Community Safety.

life-saving equipment means equipment for use in sea rescue, life-saving, or the provision of
first aid.

life-saving patrol means the members of a recognised life-saving club assigned by the club or
SLSQ to patrol a bathing reserve, or part of a bathing reserve, at a particular time.

patrol flag means a red and yellow flag of the design prescribed by Australian Standard No.
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2416.

recognised life-saving club means a life-saving club to which the local government has

assigned the responsibility for patrolling a bathing reserve or a particular part of a bathing

12
reserve. -

reserve sign see section 5(1).
SLSQ means Surf Life Saving Queensland Inc.
surveillance means the visual supervision of an area.

the Act means the Local Government Act 2009,

12 gee section 19.
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Introduction

This report outlines the community consultation that was undertaken between 7 August 2019 and
29 August 2019. Consultation involved:

public notice in the Redlands Bulletin on 7 August 2019;

Yoursay page and survey available from 7 August 2019 to 28 August 2019;
social media advertising; and

Direct communication with impacted community groups.

A total of 10 submissions were received.

Community Consultation Process
During the course of the consultation period 156 visits to the site were recorded and 1 survey
completed.

Visitors Summary

Highlights
156 rss
10 0

T

Pageviews Visitors
1
Proposed Local Law smend 1 (0.7%)
- A mingis engaged partopant Can pericrT rstire actors * Caludmted as a percertage of wtal vets 1o e Propect
27 IN 1 A 2 TOP PROJECTS
Proposed Local Law amend 27 (19.3%)
* A singis o T PO CAR Do mesSipie SoEcns = Calcudated a3 & percentage of DIl vsts 1o the Project
1

A total of 10 responses were received; 1 online and 9 written submissions.
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Data Review

The submission required the respondent to comment as to whether they supported the proposed
change to the seaward boundary at Wellington Point. In this case the amendment included:
1. Allowing the lifesaver on duty to determine the boundary subject to the daily conditions up to
100m; and
2. Retaining the ability to set a 200m seaward boundary for special events.

100% of respondents disagreed with the amendment as drafted. In reviewing the response it was
apparent that non-bathers believed that a 100m boundary was still too large and should be reduced
further to 40-50m from the shoreline.

The intention of the Local Law Amendments

The Local Law amendments provide Council the ability to regulate the seaward boundary of the
Wellington Point Bathing Area up to 200m. Council intends to allow the lifesaver on duty to set the
seaward boundary up to 100m depending on the conditions of the day. The 200m boundary will
only be used in circumstances such as special events.

Facts and Circumstances Council Response |

The seaward boundary be no greater The life guard on duty will determine the outer

than 40m from the beach making more boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
easily managed, implying better consideration to the safety of bathers and the
monitoring, supervision and control of interaction with other activities.

bathers without having to over-stretch

existing resources.

There is a moderate risk of injury to The risk caused by marine creatures is ever present,
swimmers in any location around the purpose of the bathing reserve, (and when
Wellington Point due to the various delineated by SLS flags the bathing area) is to
marine creatures known to inhabit the reduce the risk of interaction between bathers and
area e.g. stonefish, stingrays and bull the operators of both motorised and non-motorised
sharks. craft.

A smaller bathing area accommodates The life guard on duty will determine the outer

the needs of other non-bather users of boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
the area who access the beach via the consideration to the safety of bathers and the
concrete ramp/sandbags near the storm interaction with other activities. The restrictions only
water outlet and the main steps. apply when the bathing area is delineated by the

flags, at all other times restrictions do not apply.
Maintaining a seaward boundary at much  The life guard on duty will determine the outer

greater distance (than 40m) is sure to boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
compromise lifeguard response time in consideration to the safety of bathers and the

the event of an incident. interaction with other activities.

Making an oversized bathing area will The life guard on duty will determine the outer

have a detrimental impact on other mixed boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
use non-motorised craft. It would be consideration to the safety of bathers and the
optimum to work towards providing all interaction with other activities. The restrictions only
users with a fair and workable outcome. apply when the bathing area is delineated by the

flags, at all other times restrictions do not apply.
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Outer seaward boundary (marked with
buoys out from the beach) be restricted to
40m from the high tide mark.

With the exclusion zone o 10m this would
mean windsurfers and kiteboards would
have a boundary of 50m from the high
tide mark.

The life guard on duty will determine the outer
boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
consideration to the safety of bathers and the
interaction with other activities. The restrictions only
apply when the bathing area is delineated by the
flags, at all other times restrictions do not apply.

Bathers mostly swim at WP reserve
beach about one hour either side of the
high tide and mostly with high tides above
1.8m in the morning. Therefore there a
few bathers using the beach when
windsurfers are most active.

The restrictions only apply when the bathing area is
delineated by the flags, at all other times restrictions
do not apply.

Bathers seldom swim more that about 40
to 50m from the high tide shoreline. This
is partly because of stonefish, stingrays
and the occasional bull shark are known
to inhabit the area. A larger bathing area
would be harder for a lifeguard to service.

The life guard on duty will determine the outer
boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
consideration to the safety of bathers and the
interaction with other activities.

If the bathing area extends out more than
50m the based on the most common
direction of travel and at around high tide
in particular, windsurfers would need to
walk over 200m from the shore through
deep water pulling at their gear until such
time as they can sail upwind of the
bathing area and the exclusion zone.
This is impractical and unnecessary given
few bathers swim out more than 50m
from the high tide shoreline.

The life guard on duty will determine the outer
boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
consideration to the safety of bathers and the
interaction with other activities. The restrictions only
apply when the bathing area is delineated by the
flags, at all other times restrictions do not apply.

The 200m seaward boundary limit is
designed for ocean beaches where the
beach remains smooth sand under foot
as the tide goes in and out. This is not
the case at WP, as the tide goes out and
muddy, rocky mud flats are exposed.

The life guard on duty will determine the outer
boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
consideration to the safety of bathers and the
interaction with other activities.

No-one swims there from mid to low tide.

The restrictions only apply when the bathing area is
delineated by the flags, at all other times restrictions
do not apply.

If the bathing area is too large it becomes
a safety issue — forcing water users
including younger people who windsutf,
kayak, stand-up paddle or kite further
offshore. This places them in deeper
water and unable to return to shore.

The life guard on duty will determine the outer
boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
consideration to the safety of bathers and the
interaction with other activities.

Windsurfing has been a very important
recreational activity and heritage in the
subject area - since 1980 and still is
today. The windsurf community has been

The life guard on duty will determine the outer
boundary dependant on the daily conditions and with
consideration to the safety of bathers and the
interaction with other activities. The restrictions only
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a guardian of the area and historically apply when the bathing area is delineated by the
instrumental in keeping the waterway flags, at all other times restrictions do not apply.
healthy such as the removal of

waterborne rubbish.

To prohibit access to large areas of the

waterway and foreshore would be a great

demise to the windsurfing community. To

push windsurfers further out into the bay

could create a danger to them. For

example, long way to swim/far from help if

they get into trouble.

The subject area is very subjective to The risk caused by marine creatures is ever present,
tides and water clarity (often muddy/no the purpose of the bathing reserve, (and when
visibility) and hence have personally been delineated by SLS flags the bathing area) is to
injured by a stonefish, stingray and stung  reduce the risk of interaction between bathers and

by numerous jellyfish (Catostylus the operators of both motorised and non-motorised
mosaicus) over the years. | have also craft.

seen bull and tiger sharks in the adjacent
area. Mitigation of risk should be
considered (warning signage?).

Comments received on Facebook

69 comments were made against the Facebook post promoting the community consultation. A
number of these did not pertain to the topic but were passed onto the relevant areas. The below
represents the comments received in relation to the amendment being consulted on.

Facebook Posts

I'm so confused as to what your are actually asking! Do the life savers need to use their own flags
(read and yellow) of safe swimming between these flags? — Which also then means no watercraft,
surfboards etc. with the area! Swim between the flags — simple! Everyone else out of the area!
We still need to be able to launch and land our kayaks from there.

So it was 400m, now it's 200m and they want to make it 100m — except ‘special events’ when it
will be 200m? In the words of every great 5 yr old I've ever met..."but why?” Is it really just so
other ‘aquatic activities’ can utilise the area? What do the life savers say re safety? Are there any
financial implications? What has trigged the change? What was the reason for already having the
distance and why move it again? So many questions councill

Life Saver on duty has the experience to decide what is safe.

I think it means a limit as to how near boats, skis etc. can come to the swimming area.

The point is a great and popular swimming area when the tide is in. Maybe just install a couple of
marker signs to keep any motorised craft at a safe distance. The public should always take notice
of lifesavers.

Never seen life savers at wello.

| find this incredibly sad. We often take our kids to paddle around in our kayaks and sup so
they're in relative safety of calm, shallow water and will no longer be able to.

As long as we can still windsurf there like we have for years and years I'm cool with it.
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Life savers are trained to judge the ocean they have more experience in ocean conditions, if they
think it's dangerous to swim there — we should ALL listen to them.

The western side of the point is basically a flat water pool that's ankle to knee deep. At low tide
100m out from the wall is land. 100% agree with your statement in water deeper than your knee.
Nobody is going to get taken by a rip or taken under by a wave. It'll be stonefish or shark or
stingray or jellyfish or stood on a shell or stuck in the mud issue there more than anything else.
Basically the Lifeguard on duty has the authority to determine the boundary in which how far
people can swim out to and windsurfers etc. can come to the shore.... | think? | would assume,
because it's a multi use recreational area there needs to be some form of boundary so people
don’t get hurt.

| think it should be a consistent 200m. The beach should be for the kids and the swimmers,
chopping and changing will only result in an accident. Jet skis etc. still have the sandbar if they
want to play of the point and boats have the jetty and ramps.

| think the boundary should be consistent to avoid confusion on everyone’s behalf. 100m is the
length of a football field. Wouldn't let my kids swim that far out anyway. Far too many sharks for
my liking.

The lifeguard on the day should have the final say policing ever changing limits may be the
obstacle.

Now that I've seen that big shark my boundary is the sand.

Bathing reserve? My kids or | wouldn’t swim there.

| wouldn't be game to swim there anyway after reading that there are stone fish.

Not sure you can call it safe swimming in that murky water.

Recommendation

The community consultation indicates that residents and users are concerned that having an ‘up to
200m’ in the local law with an assurance that it will no more than 100m unless there is an event on
is still not a suitable distance.

Concerns centred around the useability of the space for non-bathers and the safety of bathers if
they were to go out further than around 40m from the shoreline.

These comments have been reviewed and considered by Council officers and a change to the
proposed drafting has been made.

It is recommended that Council reduce the seaward boundary at Wellington Point Bathing Reserve
to 100m. The surf lifesavers on duty will determine the distance at which the maker buoys are
placed based on the conditions of the day up to a distance of 100m from the flags.
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State Interest Check Report

Redland City Council

State Interest Check on Proposed Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015

Department of Agriculture and Fisheries

Agency Issue

Agency Suggested Action to Rectify Issue

Local Government proposed response/action to agency
comments

Comment Only

DAF regulates fishing activities in
Queensland under the Fisheries Act 1994
with compliance action undertaken by the
Queensland Boating and Fisheries Patrol
(QBP). I note in the amendment that
fishing spears and spear guns are
prohibited equipment in a bathing reserve.
It should be made clear in any signage or
publications that non-compliance is a
matter for the Redland City Council under
the local law and not QBFP.

The agency comment does not pertain to the
amendment that was made to Local Law No. 7. The
restriction on use of spear guns and fishing spears was in
place prior to this amendment to reduce the seaward
boundary of the Wellington Point bathing reserve.

DAF's comments have been forwarded to City Sports and
Venues for consideration.

Comment Only

DAF is also responsible for the Shark
Control Program, which operates at
popular swimming beaches in Queensland.
The program aims to reduce the chance o
shark attack by using baited drum lines and
nets to catch large dangerous sharks. It
should be noted that the program does not
operate in the area of the proposed
bathing reserve.

The agency comment does not pertain to the
amendment that was made to Local Law No. 7, to reduce
the seaward boundary of the Wellington Point bathing
reserve,

DAF's comments have been forwarded to City Sports and
Venues for consideration.
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Response received that highlighted no concerns

Redland City Council

State Interest Check on Proposed Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015

Department

Comment

Queensland Corrective Services

| advise that the QCS Policy and Legislation unit has reviewed the proposed
amendment and has not identified any impacts for QCS.

Transport and Main Roads

The Department of Transport and Main Road has reviewed this Local Law and
has no comment.

Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs

The Department has completed its review of the proposed local law and has
not identified any matters of adverse impact on State interests relevant to the
Local Government, Racing and Multicultural Affairs portfolios

Queensland Police Services

The Queensland Police Service has reviewed the local law amendment
documents and have no further comment.

Queensland Fire and Emergency Services

QFES Officers have conducted a State Interest Check for Bushfire and have nil
response,

Department of Agriculture and Fisheries

The Department of Agriculture and Fisheries (DAF) has reviewed the proposed
amendments to Local Law No. 7 (Bathing Reserves) 2015 and confirms that:
¢ There is no inconsistency between the proposed local law and State
legislation relevant to DAF
¢ The proposed local law will not adversely impact State policies,
strategies or programs relevant to the department.

Department of Housing and Public Works

The Department of Housing and Public Works does not have any comments to
make regarding the proposed amended local laws.
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133 REDLAND INVESTMENT CORPORATION PTY LTD AUDITED ANNUAL CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2018-2019

Objective Reference:

Authorising Officer:  John Oberhardt, General Manager Organisational Services
Responsible Officer: John Oberhardt, General Manager Organisational Services
Report Author: John Oberhardt, General Manager Organisational Services

Attachments: 1. Redland Investment Corporation Audited 2018-2019 Annual
Financial Statements

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to present to Council the audited 2018-2019 consolidated annual
financial statements and accompanying notes for the Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd
(RIC) Group, comprising RIC and its controlled entities, for noting.

BACKGROUND

RIC prepared consolidated annual financial statements for the RIC Group including its wholly
owned subsidiaries, Redland Developments Pty Ltd (formerly known as AVA Terraces Pty Ltd),
Cleveland Plaza Pty Ltd and RIC Toondah Pty Ltd. The consolidated financial statements set out the
financial performance of RIC as well as the RIC Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 and the
financial position, cash flows, changes in equity, as well as explanatory notes as at 30 June 2019.

The consolidated financial statements were presented for review by the Board of Directors of RIC
before submission to the Queensland Audit Office (QAO). The 2018-2019 QAO financial audit was
conducted in two phases — an interim visit in March 2019 and a final visit in July to August 2019.

The attached audited 2018-2019 annual consolidated financial statements were certified by QAO
on 4 September 2019 and presented to Council’s Audit Committee on 26 September 2019. An
unqualified audit opinion was provided by QAO confirming that the financial statements are
materially correct and present a true and fair view as at 30 June 2019.

ISSUES

Operating Result

The consolidated result for the Group for the financial year accounted for a loss of $555,468
(2017-2018: $749,688 profit).

The Group loss was largely the result of:

e Delays in gaining development approval on the site at 3-11 Moores Road and resulting
deferral of sale until next financial year.

e Deferral of recognising revenue relating to project management of the Weinam Creek Car
Park until next financial year.

e  One-off costs for technical advice and assessment of technical implications in relation to
changes to three significant accounting standards.

e Unforeseen outsourcing costs due to the extended leave and turnover of one of the Group’s
key management personnel.
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If the impact of the above were to be negated, the underlying operating result would have been a
profit of over $350,000. The timing difference in revenue noted above amounts to nearly $800,000
and will be recognised in the 2019-2020 financial year.

Looking forward, the Group has restructured its internal functions to accommodate staffing
changes and is planning to identify key projects that can be brought forward to minimise the
impact of delays to planned projects, especially when they are outside the Group’s control.
STRATEGIC IMPLICATIONS

Legislative Requirements

RIC and its subsidiaries are proprietary companies registered under the Corporations Act 2001, and
are established and domiciled in Australia. The financial statements are general purpose financial
statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards —
Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board. RIC is a for-profit
entity for financial reporting purposes.

Risk Management

Risk management is undertaken during the year with respect to the financial performance of the
RIC Group — Council is provided with the RIC Group’s financial statements each quarter and the RIC
Board reviews its actual performance against its Annual Business Plan at least on a bi-monthly
basis. For the first time since the inception of RIC, QAO also undertook an interim audit in relation
to the 2018-2019 financial year.

Financial

There are no additional financial implications arising from this report, the purpose of the report is
to present the audited 2018-2019 annual consolidated financial statements for RIC.

People

No impact as the purpose of the report is to present the audited 2018-2019 annual consolidated
financial statements for RIC.

Environmental

No impact as the purpose of the report is to present the audited 2018-2019 annual consolidated
financial statements for RIC.

Social

No impact as the purpose of the report is to present the audited 2018-2019 annual consolidated
financial statements for RIC.

Alignment with Council's Policy and Plans
This report has a relationship with the following items of the 2018-2023 Corporate Plan:
6. Supportive and vibrant economy

Business will thrive and jobs will grow from opportunities generated by low impact industries,
cultural and outdoor lifestyle activities, ecotourism and quality educational experiences.

6.4 Council receives a return on the community’s investment in land to enhance economic and
community outcomes.
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6.6 Development will be facilitated specifically in the Toondah Harbour Priority Development Area
(PDA) and the Weinam Creek PDA with a focus on economic growth.

8. Inclusive and ethical governance

Deep engagement, quality leadership at all levels, transparent and accountable democratic
processes and a spirit of partnership between the community and Council will enrich residents’
participation in local decision making to achieve the community’s Redlands 2030 vision and goals.

8.2 Council produces and delivers against sustainable financial forecasts as a result of best practice
Capital and Asset Management Plans that guide project planning and service delivery across the
city.

8.3 Implementation of the Corporate Plan is well coordinated across Council and through a
delivery mechanism that provides a clear line of sight, accountability and performance
measurement for all employees.

CONSULTATION

Nil consultation as the purpose of the report is to table the audited financial statements to
Council.

OPTIONS

Option One

That Council resolves to note the audited 2018-2019 annual consolidated financial statements for
the Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd (RIC) Group.

Option Two

That Council resolves to request further information before noting the audited 2018-2019 annual
consolidated financial statements for the Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd (RIC) Group.
OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION

That Council resolves to note the audited 2018-2019 annual consolidated financial statements
for the Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd (RIC) Group.
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REDLAND INVESTMENT CORPORATION PTY LTD
' 68 603 164 503

Directors’ Report

For the year ended 30 June 2019

The Directors present their report, together with the financial statements of the Group being Redland
Investment Corporation Pty Ltd (RIC) and its controlled entities, Redland Developments Pty Ltd (RD),
Cleveland Plaza Pty Ltd (CP) and RIC Toondah Pty Ltd (RICT) for the financial year ended 30 June
2019.

1. General Information
Directors

The following persons were Directors of Redland Investment Corporation Pty Lid during the 2018/19
financial year and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise stated:

Mr Phillip Hennessy — Chairman’

Mr Greg Kempton'

Mr Mitch Nielsen

Mr Andrew Chesterman (resigned 11 January 2019)
*Also Directors of RIC Toondah Pty Ltd

Principal Activities

The principle activities of RIC during the financial year were to buy, sell, develop, lease, licence and
contract in relation to Redland City Council (Council) and non-council land to create value for Council
and the Redlands community. There were no significant changes in the nature of these activities during
the year.

2. Operating Results and Review of Operations for the Year
Operating Result

The consolidated result for the Group for the financial year accounted for a loss of $555,468 (2017/18:
$749,688 profit).

The Group loss was largely the result of:

¢ Delays in gaining development approval on the site at 3-11 Moores Road, and resulting
deferral of sale until next financial year (a timing difference)

« Deferral of recognising revenue relating to project management of the Weinam Creek Car
Park until next financial year (a timing difference)

» One off costs for technical advice in relation to change in accounting standards
+ Unforeseen costs due to staff extended leave and staff turnover
The timing differences highlighted above relate to revenue initially forecast to have been recognised

in the 2019 financial year, which have been deferred to the 2020 financial year. in excluding the above
significant items, the Group would have incurred an underlying profit for the year.

Review of Operations
Projects

¢ Delivered: i

= The sale and settlement of ten residential townhouses at 9-11 Oaklands Street,
Alexandra Hills during July — September 2018.

*  Sub-division of 3-11 Moores Rd, Redland Bay into a “Superlot” and 9 residential
improved land parcels.

» The sale of the “Superlot” at 3-11 Moores Road, Redland Bay.

= Three contracts were secured on the residential land parcels at Moores Rd, prior to
30 June 2019.

= Development approval for 521 Old Cleveland Road East, Birkdale has been lodged.
Construction is expected to commence in late 2019.

3
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REDLAND INVESTMENT CORPORATION PTY LTD
68 603 164 503 '

Directors’ Report
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Request for tenders undertaken on 521 Old Cleveland Road East and the Moores
Rd projects. Preferred contractors selected on both projects.

Renovation works on Cleveland Plaza commenced with remainder to occur in 2019-
2020 year.

¢ Planning Phases:

Capalaba Town Centre Revitalisation Project — Redland Investment Corporation
(RIC) in partnership with Redland City Council (Council), launched an expression of
interest campaign seeking a development partner to deliver an exciting landmark
development that supports the revitalisation of Capalaba. The project will improve
public transport access, provide a new library and community facilities and transform
the precinct into a new town square environment that is safe, activated and innovative.
The project has progressed to the Request for Detailed Proposal phase, inviting
proponents to provide a detailed project proposal to RIC and Council for
consideration.

Weinam Creek Priority Development Area (PDA) — RIC has commenced project
management work on behalf of Council and is continuing to engage with key
stakeholders. The development application for the car park and pedestrian bridge on
Moores Road was lodged in December 2018 with construction expected to
commence August 2019. Service modelling and reports for the Weinam Creek PDA
masterplan are in progress. Lodgement of the development application for the
masterplan is expected late 2019, once the final network analysis and sequencing
works on infrastructure upgrades is complete.

s Project pipeline:

Administration

Planning and service reports commenced for the 12-22 Meissner Street, Redland Bay
site which RIC is currently progressing through the Council process to purchase in
the 2019-2020 financial year. RIC is planning on lodging the development application
early in the financial year in effort to commence construction early-mid 2020.

RIC is currently looking at investment and development opportunities inside and
outside of the Redland Coast region for delivery in the 2020-2021 financial year. Due
diligence and feasibility work is currently in progress. Acquisition work will continue
until RIC has secured at least two sites.

RIC has invested significant effort into its corporate governance arrangements. There is detailed and
regular reporting of financial and operational performance to Council.

RIC completed a review of policies and procedures during the year, including the development of pro-
forma construction contracts.

3. Other Items

Significant Changes to State of Affairs

There were no significant changes to the state of affairs during the year ended 30 June 2019.

Dividends
Dividends paid or declared during financial year were:

2019 2018
Dividend provided for and declared $Nil $1,500,000
Dividend paid $1,500,000 $500,00
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The board of Directors make dividend decisions using up to date accounting information including the
balance of retained earnings.

After Balance Date Events

RIC has exercised an option under the contract to extend payment to Redland City Council for 3-11
Moores Rd, Redland Bay. The purchase price of Moores Rd is to be adjusted by $10,000 as a result
of the deferred payment. As this is an immaterial transaction, it has not been recognised in the financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2019.

RIC has executed a Loan Facility Agreement with Redland City Council on 30 April 2019 to fund the
development of townhouses at 521 Old Cleveland Road, Birkdale, QLD. At reporting date, the loan
had not been drawn down therefore is not reflected in the financial statements. The first drawn down
was made on 16 August 2019 for $90,000.

Meeting of Directors

The number of Director meetings held during the year ending 30 June 2019, and the number of
meetings attended by each Director were:

Redland Investment | RIC Toondah Pty Ltd Cleveland Plaza
Corporation Pty Ltd Pty Ltd
A B A B A B
Mr Phillip Hennessy 8 8 6 6 N/A N/A
Mr Greg Kempton 8 8 6 6 N/A N/A
Mr Mitch Nielsen 8 8 6 6 N/A N/A
ltesigned 11 Janary2018) | : s e I e
Mrs Anca Butcher N/A N/A N/A N/A 2 2
Mr Peter Kelley NIA N/A N/A N/A 2 2

A = Number of meetings attended B = Number of meetings eligible to attend
NB: There were no meetings for Redland Developments Pty Ltd during the year.

Insurance of Directors and Officers

During the financial year, insurance policies held under Council covered the Directors and Officers of
the Group for Directors and Officers Liability insurance.

RIC pays Council a premium through a Service Level Agreement. No claims were made during the
financial year.

Environmental Issues

The Group's operations have not been impacted by any significant environmental issues during the
financial year.

Indemnifying of Directors and Officers

The Company agrees to the maximum extent permitted by law to indemnify and keep indemnified the
Directors and officers against:

a) All liabilities incurred by the Director as an Officer of the Company and each Subsidiary; and
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b) Without limiting sub-paragraph (a), all Legal Costs and other costs and expenses arising from
proceedings or an Investigation, incurred by the Director as an Officer or as a consequence of
having been an Officer of the Company or a Subsidiary.

Proceedings on Behalf of Company

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company, or
intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility
on behalf of the company for all or any part of those proceedings.

The company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

Signed in accordance with lution of the Directors:

M‘r Philip Hennessy
Chair . ,fz I,
Dated this .. £7.. ... day of D6/ 776 4
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

To the Directors of Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd

This auditor's independence declaration has been provided pursuant to 5.307C of the Corporations
Act 2001.
Independence declaration

As lead auditor for the audit of Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd for the financial year ended 30
June 2019, | declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

(a)  no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit

(b)  no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd and the entities it controlled
during the year.

_<JU_/ y Iy 4 September 2019
Melissa Read Queensland Audit Office
as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Consolidated Parent
Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

$ $ *restated $ $ *restated
Total revenue and other income 2 6,966,068 9,524,158 6,865,484 9,405,017
Costs of goods sold (5,616,722) (6,914,882) (5,616,722) (6,914,882)
Employee benefits expense (1,232,540) (1,288,886) (1,232,540) (1,288,886)
Professional services (339,085) (345,711) (295,637) (304,847)
Admin & corporate costs (273,119) (191,882) (188,866)  (191,882)
Auditors' remuneration 19 (19,410) (15,900) (19,410) (15,900)
Depreciation expense 9 (36,489) (16,915) (22,172) (13,640)
Finance costs (4,171) (294) (4,158) (1,012)
Total expenses 3 (7,521,536) (8,774,470) (7,379,505) (8,731,049)
Profit/(Loss) before income tax (555,468) 749,688 (514,021) 673,968
Income tax (expense)/benefit 1(d) - - - -
Profit/(Loss) for the year (555,468) 749,688 (514,021) 673,968
Other comprehensive income - - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year (555,468) 749,688 (514,021) 673,968

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and significant accounting

policies.

* Refer Note 1(s)

Item 13.3- Attachment 1

Page 68



The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and significant accounting

policies.
* Refer Note 1(s)

GENERAL MEETING AGENDA 9 OCTOBER 2019
REDLAND INVESTMENT CORPORATION PTY LTD
ABN 68 603 164 503
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Consolidated Parent
2019 2018 2019 2018
Note $ $ *restated $ $ *restated
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 4 4,056,840 2,915,830 3,964,654 2,806,887
Trade and other receivables 5 468,388 207,882 399,221 3,680,168
Inventory 6 1,858,025 6,543,857 955,077 3,812,100
Other current assets 33,621 - 33,621 -
Investment property 7 8,050,000 - 8,050,000 -
Total Current Assets 14,466,874 9,667,569 13,402,573 10,298,155
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investment property 7 4,017,148 11,989,953 - 7,898,829
Investment in subsidiary 8 - - 5,332,292 4,373,800
Property, plant and equipment 9 469,718 378,847 46,893 50,122
Total Non-Current Assets 4,486,866 12,368,800 5,379,185 12,322,751
Total Assets 18,953,740 22,036,369 18,781,758 22,621,906
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables 10 4,891,801 959,438 4,761,874 1,627,065
Dividends payable " - 1,500,000 - 1,500,000
Borrowings 12 - 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
Current provision 13 - 11,277 - 11,277
Deferred revenue 14 1,293,977 - 1,293,977 -
Total Current Liabilities 6,185,778 5,970,715 6,055,851 6,638,342
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provisions 13 51,056 33,692 51,056 33,692
Deferred revenue 14 - 1,150,000 - 1,150,000
Total Non-Current Liabilities 51,056 1,183,692 51,056 1,183,692
Total Liabilities 6,236,834 7,154,407 6,106,907 7,822,034
Net Assets 12,716,906 14,881,962 12,674,851 14,799,872
EQUITY
Issued Capital 15 13,101,100 14,712,100 13,101,100 14,712,100
Retained earnings (384,194} 169,862 (426,249) 87,772
Total Equity 12,716,906 14,881,962 12,674,851 14,799,872
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Contributed Retained Total
Consolidated Note equity earnings equity
$
Balance at 1 July 2017 14,712,100 1,413,804 16,125,904
Retained earnings Cleveland Plaza 1(c) - 6,370 6,370
Profit for the year (restated) - 749,688 749,688
Total comprehensive income for the year - 756,058 756,058
Transactions with owners
Distribution to shareholder - Redland City Council - (2,000,000) (2,000,000)
Balance at 30 June 2018 (restated) 14,712,100 169,862 14,881,962
Balance at 1 July 2018 (restated) 14,712,100 169,862 14,881,962
Retained earnings RIC Toondah 1(c) 1,412 1,412
Profit/(loss) for the year - (555,468) (555,468)
Shares issued during the year - - -
Total comprehensive income for the year - (554,056} (544,056)
Transactions with owners
Return of land to Redland City Council (1,611,000) - (1,611,000
Balance at 30 June 2019 13,101,100 (384,194) 12,716,906
Parent
Balance at 1 July 2017 14,712,100 1,413,804 16,125,904
Profit for the year - 673,968 673,968
Total comprehensive income for the year - 673,968 673,968
Transactions with owners
Distribution to shareholder - Redland City Council - (2,000,000) (2,000,000)
Balance at 30 June 2018 (restated) 14,712,100 87,772 14,799,872
Balance at 1 July 2018 (restated) 14,712,100 87,772 14,799,872
Profit/(loss) for the year - (514,021) (514,021)
Shares issued during the year - B -
Total comprehensive income for the year - (514,021) (514,021)
Transactions with owners
Return of land to Redland City Council (1,611,000) - (1,611,000)
Balance at 30 June 2019 13,101,100 (426,249) 12,674,851

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and significant

accounting policies.

10
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Consclidated Parent
Nata 20$1 9 2U$1 8 20$1 9 20$1 8

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers 10,018,001 6,769,557 9,749,076 6,191,672
Payments to suppliers and employees (3,730,540) (4,421,226) (7,085,032) (500,365)
Interest received 29,918 26,020 28,712 24777
Dividends received - - 211,000 -
Finance costs (4,171) (1,012) (4,158) {1,012)
Net cash generated by operating activities 6,313,208 2,373,339 2,899,598 5,715,072
Payments for investment property (118,496) = (84,057) .
Payments for property plant and equipment (18,945) - (18,943) -
Proceeds from investments - 1,150,000 - 1,150,000
Purchase of investments - (4,523,485) (104,074) (4,474,161)
Repayment of loan from subsidiary - - 3,500,000 -
Net cash used in investing activities (137,441) (3,373,485) 3,292,926 (3,324,161)
Proceeds from borrowings - 3,500,000 - s
Repayment of borrowings (3,500,000) - (3,500,000) -
Dividends paid (1,500,000)  (500,000) (1,500,000)  (500,000)
Interest paid on borrowings (34,757) (68,270) (34,757) (68,270)
Net cash generated by/(used in) financing

activities (5,034,757) 2,931,730 (5,034,757)  (568,270)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents held 1,141,010 1,931,584 1,157,767 1,822,641
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,915,830 984,246 2,806,887 984,246

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS END OF YEAR 4 4,056,840 2,915,830 3,964,654 2,806,887

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes and significant accounting policies.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements cover Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd as an individual entity and
Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd and subsidiaries as a Group. Redland Investment
Corporation Pty Ltd is a proprietary company registered under the Corporations Act 2001, established
and domiciled in Australia

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 4 September 2019 by the Directors of the
company.

Basis of Preparation and Compliance

The financial statements are general-purpose financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the
Australian Accounting Standards Board. Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd is a for-profit entity
for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the Australian Accounting Standards
Board has concluded would result in financial statements containing relevant and reliable information
about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of
the financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless stated
otherwise.

The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accrual
basis and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value
of certain assets. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the
nearest dollar.

a. New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their annual
reporting period commencing 1 July 2018.

« AASB 9 Financial Instruments
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has not had a material change to its accounting palicies following the adoption of AASB
9 and AASB 15. These policies had an immaterial impact on the amounts recognised in prior years.

AASB 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and
financial liabilities, intrcduced new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for
financial assets. Re-measurement of receivables was not required following adoption of AASB 9.

The adoption of AASB 15 requires all contracts with customers to be reviewed on an individual
basis to determine whether performance obligations have been met and whether revenue should
be recognised at a point in time or over time. Property Sales are recognised at a point in time once
legal title passes to the buyer; which is consistent with prior year accounting policies.The
accounting policies for the Group's revenue from customers is explained further in Note 1(m).

b. New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Years

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory
for 30 June 2019 reporting and have not been adopted by the Group. The Group's assessment
shows no impact of new standards to current accounting policies.

12
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
b. New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Years (continued)

Title of Standard |AASB 16 Leases

Nature of change |AASB 16 was issued in February 2016. It will result in almost all leases being
recognised on the balance sheet, as the distinction between operating and
ffinance leases is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the right to
use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised.
[The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting fo_r lessors will not significantly change.

Impact The Group currently does not have any operating leases as a lessee
however, the Group does have operating leases as a lessor. The Group
does not expect the new guidance to significantly affect the accounting for
hese leases as lessor.

Mandatory Mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 July 2019. The
application Group does not intend to adopt the standard before its effective date.

c. Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Redland Investment
Corporation Pty Ltd and its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2019.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial
statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. All intra-Group assets and
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investment in a subsidiary is accounted for at cost in the financial statements of Redland Investment
Corporation Pty Ltd. As at 30 June 2019 Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd had three wholly
owned controlled entities:

RIC Toondah Pty Ltd - ABN 51 609 517 348 (Consolidated)

RIC has 100% ownership of RIC Toondah Pty Ltd (RICT), which is limited by shares. RICT was
formed to provide the administration services for the day-to-day management of the joint operation
between the Minister for State Development, Manufacturing, Infrastructure and Planning, Council
and the developer for the project in the Toondah Harbour Priority Development Area. Council's
interest in the joint operation is 50%. The project is pending a transfer of State land to MEDQ as
well as an environmental assessment; as such, nominal transactions have occurred in the entity
during the current financial year.

The transactions in this entity are considered material in the current financial year and have been
consolidated with Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd.’s financial result. The transactions in
this entity in the previous financial year were not material and therefore not consolidated. An
adjustment has been made to retained earnings on 1 July 2018, representing the net assets of the
company when initially consolidated.

13
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

C.

Basis of Consolidation (continued)
Redland Developments Pty Ltd - ABN 90 617 653 531 (Consolidated)

RIC has 100% ownership of Redland Developments (formerly AVA Terraces Pty Ltd) which is
limited by shares. Redland Developments Pty Ltd was formed to develop and manage land at 9-
11 Oaklands Street, Alexandra Hills during 2018 and 2019 financial years. During the current
financial year, Redland Developments Pty Ltd was used for a new development project at 521 Old
Cleveland Road, Capalaba.

The transactions in this entity are considered material and have been consolidated with Redland
Investment Corporation Pty Ltd.'s financial result.

Cleveland Plaza Pty Ltd - ABN 67 620 724 558 (Consolidated)

RIC has 100% ownership of Cleveland Plaza Pty Ltd (Cleveland Plaza) which is limited by shares.
Cleveland Plaza was formed to manage the property at 48 Bloomfield Street, Cleveland.

The transactions in this entity are considered material and have been consolidated with Redland
Investment Corporation Pty Ltd.’s financial result.

This company was consolidated for the first time during the 2018 year. An adjustment has been
made to retained earnings on 1 July 2017, representing the net assets of the company when initially
consolidated.

Income Taxation
Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd is exempt from Commonwealth income tax.
Fair Value

The Group measures certain assets at fair value on either a recurring or a non-recurring basis,
depending on the requirements of the applicable Accounting Standards.

Fair value is the price the Group would receive to sell an asset in an orderly (i.e. unforced)
transaction between independent, knowledgeable and wiling market participants at the
measurement date.

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing
information is used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market values may be made having
regard to the characteristics of the specific asset or liability.

The fair value of assets that are not traded in an active market are determined using one or more
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise, to the extent possible, the use of
observable market data.

To the extent possible, market information is extracted from the principal market for the asset (i.e. the
market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset) or, in the absence of such a market,
the most advantageous market available to the entity at the end of the reporting period (i.e. the market
that maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset, after taking into account transaction costs
and transport costs).

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant's
ability to use the assetin its highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs that are directly
associated with the acquisition, development and construction of a project (i.e. land being
developed or held for sale) are capitalised as inventory.

. Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant and equipment including, buildings and computer hardware is measured on the cost basis and
therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. In the event the carrying amount of plant
and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down
immediately to the estimated recoverable amount with the loss recognised in profit or loss. A formal
assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present.

The cost of fixed assets constructed includes the cost of materials, direct labour, borrowing costs and
an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overheads.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefit associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as expenses in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis and diminishing value
basis over the asset's useful life to the Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for
use. Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss. The depreciation rates used for each class of
depreciable assets are:

Class of Fixed Asset Depreciation Rate Depreciation Method

Plant and equipment 13% - 25% Straight Line

Computer hardware 33% - 67% Straight Line / Diminishing Value
Buildings 4% Straight Line

The asset's residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with
the carrying amount. These gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the item is
derecognised.

. Investment Property

Investment property is property held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, not
for sale in the ordinary course of business, use in supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Investment properties are measured initially at cost including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value under the fair value model.

Fair value is based on market values and reflects the price at which the property could be exchanged
between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction at the measurement date.

Any gains or losses arising from the change in fair values of investment properties are recognised in
the profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected
from its disposal.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

h.

Investment Property (continued)

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of investment property are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period of retirement or disposal. Transfers are made to, or from,
investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by ending or
commencement of owner-occupation, commencement of an operating lease to another party or
commencement of development with a view to sale.

Financial Instruments
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument, and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured
initially at fair value. Subsequent measurement are described below.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A
financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are
measured at the transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially
measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). For the purpose of
subsequent measurement, financial assets which includes trade and other receivables and cash and
short-term deposits are measured at amortised cost.

Allincome and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented
within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade
receivables which is presented within other expenses. Classifications are determined by both the
entities business model for managing the financial asset; and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets

Amortised cost is calculated as the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured
atinitial recognition less principal repayments and any reduction for impairment and adjusted for any
cumulative amortization of the difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount
calculated using the effective interest method.

The effective inferest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated cash payments or receipts
(including fees, transaction costs, other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when
this cannot be reliably predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Revisions to expected future net cash flows will
necessitate an adjustment to the carrying amount with a consequential recognition of an income or
expense item in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities other than financial guarantees are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss through the amortisation process
and when the financial liability is derecognised.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial Instruments (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified at "fair value through profit or loss" when they are held for trading for
the purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are
designated as such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a
Group of financial assets is managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in
accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. Such assets are
subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying amount included in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in  an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost. The Company
makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records the
loss allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In using this practical
expedient, the Company uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking
information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix.

Impairment

AASB 9's impairment requirements use forward-looking information to recognise expected credit
losses — the ‘expected credit losses (ECL) model'. Instruments within the scope of the new
requirements included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), trade receivables, contract assets
recognised and measured under AASB 15 and loan commitments and some financial guarantee
contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The Group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring
expected credit losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable
forecasts that affect the expected collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In the case of financial assets carried at amortised cost, loss events may include: indications that
the debtors or Group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; indications that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; and changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost (including loans and receivables), a separate
allowance account is used to reduce the carrying amount of financial assets impaired by credit
losses. After having taken all possible measures of recovery, if management establishes that the
carrying amount cannot be recovered by any means, at that point the written-off amounts are
charged to the allowance account or the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced
directly if no impairment amount was previously recognised in the allowance account.

When the terms of financial assets that would otherwise have been past due or impaired have been
renegotiated, the Group recognises the impairment for such financial assets by taking into account
the original terms as if the terms have not been renegotiated so that the loss events that have
occurred are duly considered.

Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be
settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting year in which the employees
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

3

Employee Benefits (continued)

render the related service, including wages, salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits
are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.
The Group's obligation for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave
are recognised as part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.

Other long-term employee benefits

Provision is made for employees' long service leave entittements not expected to be settled wholly
within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the
related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at the present value of the
expected future payments to be made to employees.

Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service
and employee departures, and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at
the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the
terms of the obligation. Upon the re-measurement of obligations for other long-term employee
benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss as a part of employee benefits
expense.

The Group’s obligation for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in
its statement of financial position, except where the Group does not have an unconditional right to
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the
obligations are presented as current provisions.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past
events, forwhichitis probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result, and that outflow can
be reliably measured.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are within short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

. Revenue and Other Income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking into
account any trade discounts and volume rebates allowed. Any consideration deferred is treated as
the provision of finance and is discounted at a rate of interest that is generally accepted in the market
for similar arrangements. The difference between the amount initially recognised and the amount
ultimately received is interest revenue. The Group recognises revenue to the extent that it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the performance obligations are met regardless
of when the payment is received.

Revenue from the sale of property is recognised at a point in time based on enforceability of a
contract and the specificity of performance obligations. An enforceable right to payment arises once
legal title has passed to the customer.

Revenue from consulting services is recognised over time based on the performance obligations of
each contract. This is because the asset created does not have an alternative use for the Group and
the contracts have an enforceable right to payment for the time and effort spent by the Group on
progressing the performance obligation.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
m. Revenue and Other Income (continued)

For partially completed contracts the Group recognise revenue based on stage of completion of the
project which is estimated by comparing the total costs incurred, including labour hours, relative to
expected costs to complete the project.

This is considered a faithful depiction of the transfer of services as the contracts are initially priced
on the basis of anticipated costs to complete the projects and therefore also represents the amount
to which the Group would be entitled to based on its performance to date. Where revenue is received
in advance, it is shown as deferred revenue on the Statement of Financial Position.

Where consulting service contracts are based on an as needs basis, revenue is recognised based
on labour hours expended each month to manage the requirements of the contract. Revenue is
recognised once the deliverable of the specific customer request has been completed.

Rental income from operating leases over commercial investment property is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Rent not received at balance date is reflected in the balance
sheet as a receivable, or if paid in advance as deferred revenue.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method applied to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired.
For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. Dividends
received from associates and joint ventures are accounted for in accordance with the equity method
of accounting.

All revenue is recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax.
n. Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services
performed in the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12
months of the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are
classified as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note
1(i) for further discussions on determination of impairment losses. All known bad debts were
written-off or provided for at 30 June 2018.

o. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing or financing activities, which are recoverable from or payable to the ATO, are presented
as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.
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Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
p. Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the Group that
remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with
the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

q. Dividends Payable

Dividends payable are recognised when the dividend is appropriately authorised and is no longer at
the discretion of the Company.

r. Critical Accounting Estimates and judgements

The preparation of the financial statements requires the determination and use of certain critical
accounting estimates and management assumptions that have potential to cause a material
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the financial year. Such estimates,
judgements and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated info the financial statements based
on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both
externally and within the Group.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is reviewed
and in the future periods as relevant. Judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a potential
significant effect are outlined in the following notes:

e  Fair value of investment properties (Note 1(e) and Note 17)

e Revenue and other income (Note 1 (m)).

s. Correction to prior period error

In the 2019 financial, it was identified transactions that occurred in the 2018 financial year required
adjustment. The details of the adjustments is detailed below. The cumulative affect of the
adjustment has been recognised as a prior period restatement in the 2019 financial statements.

In accordance with AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
the financial report and comparative information has been restated as if the error never occurred.

Lot 35/SP226325 transferred from Rediands City Council (RCC)

The results of a RCC review of the transfer of Lot35/SP226325 found that the parcel of land that
RCC had transferred to RIC in the 2017/18 financial year had actually been transferred to the State
Government as part of a new road, and not to RIC. RIC has reversed the entries that occurred in
the 2017/18 financial year. The impact will be a reduction to Expenses (COGS) of $79,183 and a
reduction to Equity (Issued Capital — Land contributed from Parent) of $79,183.

This restatement has no effect on the preceding year's Statement of Financial Position therefore a
restatement of the Statement of Financial Position as at 1 July 2017 is not required.

Correction to prior period recognition of Revenue

Following a detailed review of revenue in the 2019 financial year, it was identified consulting services,
which includes project management services, provided by the Group relate to services provided as
Agent rather than Principal. Revenue derived as an agent is to be disclosed as net revenue, being
revenue less costs incurred.
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s. Correction to prior period error (continued)

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

To correct this misstatement, revenue and associated expenses have been restated in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income. There was no impact to profit, but revenue and expenses decreased by
$25,502 (consolidated) and $977,038 (parent).

The errors have been corrected by restating each of the affected financial statement line items for

the prior period as follows:

Consolidated

Consolidated Statement of 30 June | Cumulative Increase 30 June 2018
Financial Position (extract) 2018 / {decrease) (restated)

$ $ $
Issued Capital 14,791,283 (79,183) 14,712,100
Consolidated Statement of 30 June | Cumulative Increase 30 June 2018
Profit & Loss (extract) 2018 I (decrease) (restated)

$ $ $
Revenue 9,549,660 (25,502) 9,524,158
Development Expenses (25,502) 25,502 -
Cost of goods sold (6,994,065) 79,183 (6,914,882)
Total Expenses (8,879,155) 104,685 (8,774,470)
Profit 670,505 79,183 749,688

Parent

Consolidated Statement of 30 June | Cumulative increase 30 June 2018
Financial Position (extract) 2018 I/ (decrease) (restated)

$ $ $
Issued Capital 14,791,283 (79,183) 14,712,100
Consolidated Statement of 30 June | Cumulative Increase 30 June 2018
Profit & Loss (extract) 2018 / (decrease) (restated)

$ $ $
Revenue 10,382,055 (977,038) 9,405,017
Development Expenses (977,038) 977,038 -
Cost of goods sold (6,994,065) 79,183 (6,914,882)
Total Expenses (9,787,270) 1,056,221 (8,731,049)
Profit 594,785 79,183 673,968
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NOTE 2: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME Consolidated Parent
2019 2018 2019 2018
$ $ *restated $ $ *restated

Sales revenue:

- Sale of land (Moores Rd) 2,100,000 5,926,621 2,100,000 5,926,621
- Sale of town-houses (AVA Terraces) 4,267,298 1,385,581 4,267,298 1,385,581
Fair value adjustment: '

- Land held as investment property 67,114 1,740,427 67,114 1,740,427
Consuiting Fees:

- Brokerage fees - 80,000 - 80,000
- Project management fees 127,942 140,310 127,942 190,637
Commercial rent revenue:

- Parking Fees 64,395 56,974 64,395 56,974
- Cleveland Plaza, Cleveland 310,901 168,225 523 -
Other revenue:

- Dividend revenue = - 211,000 -
- Interest revenue 28,418 26,020 27,212 24,777
Total revenue and other income 6,966,068 9,524,158 6,865,484 9,405,017

NOTE 3: EXPENSES
Cost of goods sold:
- land (Moores Rd) 1,287,590 5,571,582 1,287,590 5,571,582
- town-houses (AVA Terraces) 4,329,132 1,343,300 4,329,132 1,343,300
5,616,722 6,914,882 5,616,722 6,914,882

Employee benefits expense:

- Staff wages and salaries 082,486 1,049,788 982,486 1,049,788
- Superannuation 102,566 96,182 102,566 96,182
- Directors fees 147,488 142,916 147,488 142,916
1,232,540 1,288,886 1,232,540 1,288,886

Administration & corporate costs 273,119 191,882 188,866 191,882
Professional services 339,085 345,711 295,637 304,847
Auditors' remuneration 19,410 15,900 19,410 15,900
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 36,489 16,915 22,172 13,640
Finance costs 4,171 294 4,158 1,012
Total expenses 7,521,536 8,774,470 7,379,505 8,731,049
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NOTE 4: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Consolidated Parent
2019 2018 2019 2018
$ $ $ $
Cash at bank 4,056,840 2,915,830 3,964,654 2,806,887
Total cash and cash equivalents 4,056,840 2,915,830 3,964,654 2,806,887

NOTE 5: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
i Trade receivables

- Receivable from Redland City Council 297,442 110,251 283,839 110,251
- Cleveland Plaza debtors 65,276 55,906 - -
- Receivable from subsidiary - - 35,870 3,507,571
- Receivable from external parties 59,178 3,521 36,351 3,521
- Parking fees 3,495 - 3,495 =
- GST receivable 42,997 36,704 39,666 57,325

Other receivables

- Interest receivable - 1,500 - 1,500
Total trade and other receivables 468,388 207,882 399,221 3,680,168
NOTE 6: INVENTORY

Opening balance as at 1 July 2018 6,543,857 8,560,956 3,812,100 8,560,956
Acquisitions and related costs 2,517,948 4,795,982 2,274,458 1,180,755
Transfer to subsid'iary . - - (854,418) -
Transfer to Redland City Council (1,611,000) - (1,611,000) .
Disposals (5,592,780)  (6,813,081) (2,666,063) (5,929,611)
Total inventory 1,858,025 6,543,857 955,077 3,812,100

Land originally held for development and resale which was rezoned as open spaces was transferred to
Redland City Council during the year.

NOTE 7: INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Opening balance as at 1 July 2018 11,989,953 6,058,043 7,898,829 6,058,043
Acquisitions and subsequent expenditure on

investment property 118,496 4,523,483 84,057 100,359
Transfer to/(from) property, plant and

equipment (108,415) (332,000) - -
Net gain from fair value adjustments to

investment property 67,114 1,740,427 67,114 1,740,427
Total investment properties 12,067,148 11,989,953 8,050,000 7,898,829

As at 30 June 2019, two properties being Doig street and Wynyard street were expected to be sold and
seftled within the next twelve months. These properties $8,050,000 (consolidated) and $8,050,000
(parent) have been recognised as current assets.

NOTE 8: INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

Investment in Cleveland Plaza Pty Ltd - - 4,408,240 4,373,800

Investment in Redland Developments Pty Lid - - 924,052 -

Total investment in subsidiary - - 5,332,292 4,373,800
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NOTE 9: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

2019 2019 2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Plantand Computer Building Land Plant and Computer Building Land
Consolidated Equipment Hardware Total Equipment Hardware Total
Carrying amount as at 1 July 2018 39,996 10,126 328,725 - 378,847 49,245 14,517 - - 63,762
- Additions - 18,945 - - 18,945 - - - -
- Reclassification from investment properties - B 20,790 87,625 108415 - - 332,000 - 332,000
- Depreciation (9,604) (12,569) (14,316) - (36,489) (9,249) (4,391) (3.275) - (16,915)
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2019 30,392 16,502 335,199 87,625 469,718 39,996 10,126 328,725 - 378,847
Parent
Carrying amount as at 1 July 2018 39,996 10,126 - - 50,122 49,245 14,517 - - 63,762
- Additions - 18,943 - - 18,943 - - - - -
- Reclassification from investment properties - - - - - - - - - -
- Depreciation (9,604) (12,568) - - (22,172) (9,249) (4,391) - - {13,640)
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2019 30,392 16,501 - - 48,893 39,996 10,126 - - 50,122
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Consolidated Parent
2019 2018 2019 2018

NOTE 10: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES $ $ $ $

Trade payables

- Payables to subsidiary entity for services provided - - 1,622 -

- Payables to subsidiary entity - - - 743471

- Payables to Redland City Council 1,604,602 - 1,604,602 -

- Payables to other related parties 7,500 - 7,500 -

- Payables to external parties 504,018 737,489 443,319 667,577

Sundry payables

- GST payable 32,540 130274  (38,309) 124,342

- Annual Leave 63,241 91675 63,240 91,675
‘Weinam Creek Car Park Construction 2,679,900 - 2,679,900 -

Total trade and other payables 4,891,801 959438 4,761,874 1,627,065
NOTE 11: DIVIDENDS PAYABLE

Dividend declared - 1,500,000 - 1,500,000

No dividend was declared or provided for during the year ended 30 June 2019.

NOTE 12: BORROWINGS
Loan provided by Redland City Council - 3,500,000 - 3,500,000

On 26 September 2018 Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd repaid loan to Redland City Council.

NOTE 13: PROVISIONS

CURRENT
Long service leave - 11,277 - 11,277
Total current provisions - 115207 - 11,277

NON-CURRENT
Long service leave 51,056 33,692 51,056 33,692
Total non-current provisions 51,056 33,692 51,056 33,692

Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for long service leave. The current position
for this includes the total amount accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to
employees having completed the required period of service. It is not expected that the full amount of long
service leave classified as current liability will be settled within the next 12 months. However, these
amounts must be classified as current liabilities since Redland Investment Corporation does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their leave
entittement.

The non-current portion for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitiements
that have not yet vested in relation to those employees who have not yet completed the required vesting
period of service. In calculating the present value of future cash flows in respect of long service leave, the
probability of long service leave being taken is based upon historic data. The measurement and
recognition criteria for employee benefits have been discussed in Note 1(j).
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NOTE 13: PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) Consolidated Parent
2019 2018 2019 2018
$ $ $ $

Movements in provisions were as follows:

Opening balance at beginning of year 44,969 32,942 44,969 32,942

Long service leave entitlement raised 20,144 12,027 20,144 12,027

Long service leave entitlement paid (14,057) - {14,057) -

Closing balance 51,056 44,969 51,056 44,969
NOTE 14: DEFERRED REVENUE

Investment property sales 1,150,000 1,150,000 1,150,000 1,150,000

Project management fees 143,977 - 143,977 -
Total deferred revenue 1,293,977 1,150,000 1,293,977 1,150,000

As at 30 June 2019, two properties being Doig street and Wynyard street were expected to be sold and
settled within the next twelve months. In addition deferred project management fees are expected to be
brought to revenue upon completion of the project within 12 months. These deferred revenues
$1,293,997 (consolidated) and $1,293,977 (parent) have been recognised as current liabilities.

NOTE 15: ISSUED CAPITAL
Equity attributable to owners:

Balance at beginning of year 14,712,100 14,712,100 14,712,100 14,712,100

Cash contributed by parent - - - .

Land contributed by parent - - - -

Land transferred to parent (1,611,000) E (1,611,000) E
Total equity attributable to owners 13,101,100 14,712,100 13,101,100 14,712,100
Share capital:

Balance at beginning of year 100 100 100 100

Shares issued during the year - - -

Authorised and fully paid ordinary i

shares at 30 June 2019 100 100 100 100

NOTE 16: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Redland Investment Corporation's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with a bank, trade

receivables and trade payables.

The carrying amounts for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 9:
Financial Instruments as detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows.

Note

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 4,056,840 2915830 3,964,654 2,806,887
Trade receivables 5 468,388 207,882 399,221 3,680,168
Total financial ts 4,525,228 3,123,712 4,363,875 6,487,055
Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 4,891,801 959,438 4,761,874 1,627,065
Borrowings - measured at amortised cost 12 - 3,500,000 - 3,500,000
Total financial liabilities 4,891,801 4,459,438 4,761,874 5,127,065
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NOTE 17: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions (i.e.
an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly derived from observable inputs or estimated
using another valuation technique.

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the asset/liability
being valued. Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available
publicly, but are relevant to the characteristics of the asset/liability being valued. Unobservable inputs
are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable inputs are not available for similar
assetsfliabilities.

Non-financial assets measured at fair value include investment properties.

All assets for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent specific
appraisals: )
« Level 1 represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in
active markets for identical assets and liabilities;
« Level 2 represents fair value, measurements that are substantially derives from inputs (other
than quoted prices within level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and
e Level 3 represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable
inputs.

The specific valuation technique used to value investment properties are documented below. Fair value
represents the highest and best use of the assets having regards to the optimal financial, physical and
legal use of the asset.

Investment properties were initially recognised at cost and subsequently revalued under the fair value
model. Redland Investment Corporation assesses changes in fair value on an annual basis and
recognises any change in fair value though profit or loss in the period in which the change occurs.

The fair value of investment properties were determined using level 2 market approach valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques use prices and other relevant information generated by market
transactions involving identical or comparable assets.

Market approach valuation techniques included recent sale comparisons of similar properties and land

sites. The most significant inputs employed in this valuation technique are price per square metre using
recent sales in the same or similar geographical locations and actual binding sale contracts in place as
at measurement date.

Where deferred consideration for the sale of investment properties is used as an input in determining fair
value, the value is discounted to present value using an appropriate index.

Where investment properties are purchased in the current financial year it assumed that the transaction
price equals fair value unless any of the following conditions exist:

(a) The transaction is between related parties, although the price in a related party transaction may be
used as an input into a fair value measurement if the entity has evidence that the transaction was
entered into at market terms.

(b) The transaction takes place under duress or the seller is forced to accept the price in the transaction,
For example, that might be the case if the seller is experiencing financial difficulty.
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NOTE 17: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

(c) the unit of account represented by the transaction price is different from the unit of account for the
asset or liability measure at fair value . For example, that might be the case if the asset or liability
measure at fair value is only of the elements in the transaction (e.g. in a business combination), the
transaction includes unstated rights and privileges that are measured separately in accordance with
another standard, or the transaction price includes transaction costs.

(d) The market in which the transaction takes place is different from the principal market (or most
advantageous market). For example, those markets might be different if the entity is a dealer that enters
into transactions with customers in the retail market, but the principal (or most advantageous) market for
the exit transaction is with other dealers in the dealer market.

NOTE 18: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Entities exercising control over the Group
The ultimate parent entity, which exercises control over Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd, is
Redland City Council.

Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Redland City Council.

Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel during the year are as follows:

Board of Directors Executive Team
Non-Executive Independent Director: - Peter Kelley — Chief Executive Officer
- Phil Hennessy — Chair - Anca Butcher — General Counsel & Company Secretary
- Greg Kempton - Grant Tanham-Kelly — Chief Financial Officer (resigned
- Mitch Neilson 26 March 2019)
- Andrew Chesterman (resigned 11

January 2019)

Andrew Chesterman, the Chief Executive Officer of Redland City Council, did not receive any
compensation during the financial year.

The total remuneration paid to key management personnel of Redland Investment Corporation during
the 2018/19 financial year are as follows. This includes remuneration accrued as at 30 June 2019:

2019 2018
$ $
Key management personnel compensation (paid) 770,574 812,069
Directors Fees (accrued, Refer to Note 10) 7,500 -

Related party transactions

a) Transactions between Redland City Council and the Redland Investment Corporation Group are on
normal commercial terms and conditions no more favorable than those available to other parties
unless otherwise stated.

Purchase of goods and services 1,915,586 1,156,298
Dividend (Refer Note 11)* - 2,000,000
Receipt / (Repayment) of loan to Redland City Council (3,500,000) 3,500,000
Interest paid on loan to Redland City Council (Refer Note 12) 34,757 68,270
Receipt of professional services*™ 3,712,018 270,602
Transfer of land assets from RIC to Redland City Council 1,611,000 -

* The dividend of $2,000,000 above relates to dividends declared in prior year of $1,500,000 for financial
year ended 30 June 2018 and $500,000 for financial year ended 30 June 2017.
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REDLAND INVESTMENT CORPORATION PTY LTD
ABN 68 603 164 503

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended 30 June 2019

NOTE 18: RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

** Included in this amount is $2,679,900 which has been prepaid by Redland City Council to RIC for
project management of Weinam Creek Priority Development Area. This amount is included in Note 10 of
the financial statements as a liability for construction costs associated to works not yet completed.

b) Transactions between Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd with its subsidiaries are on normal
commercial terms and conditions no more favorable than those available to other parties unless
otherwise stated.

2019 2018
$ $

Purchase of goods and services - 1,763,877
Dividend from subsidiary 211,000 -
Receipt of professional services 34,700 -
Investment in subsidiary 958,492 4,378,800
NOTE 19: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

Auditor-General of Queensland

Audit of financial report 19,410 15,900

NOTE 20: SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

The subsidiary companies of Redland Investment Corporation are listed below.

Redland Developments Pty Ltd (formerly AVA Terraces Pty Ltd)

Cleveland Plaza Pty Ltd

RIC Toondah Pty Ltd

NOTE 21: EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

RIC has exercised an option under the contract to extend payment to Redland City Council for 3-11
Moores Rd, Redland Bay. The purchase price of Moores Rd is to be adjusted by $10,000 as a result of
the deferred payment. As this is an immaterial transaction, it has not been recognised in the financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2019.

RIC has executed a Loan Facility Agreement with Redland City Council on 30 April 2019 to fund the
development of townhouses at 521 Old Cleveland Road, Birkdale, QLD. At reporting date, the loan had
not been drawn down therefore is not reflected in the financial statements The first drawn down was
made on 16 August 2019 for $90,000.

NOTE 22: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS

The Group had no capital or leasing commitments at 30 June 2019.

NOTE 23: CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Group had no contingent assets or contingent liabilities at 30 June 2019.
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REDLAND INVESTMENT CORPORATION PTY LTD
ABN 68 603 164 503

Director’s Declaration

For the year ended 30 June 2019

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Redland investment Corporation Pty Ltd, the
Directors declare that:

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 8 to 29:
a) comply with Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Regquirements; and
b) give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company and consolidated entity as at

30 June 2019 and their financial performance for the year then ended.

2. In the Directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that Redland investment
Corporation Pty Ltd will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Philip Hennessy
Chair

Date

29 /79
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd

Report on the audit of the financial report
Opinion

| have audited the accompanying financial report of Redland Investment Corporation Pty Ltd (the
parent) and its controlled entities (the group).

In my opinion, the financial report:

a) gives a true and fair view of the parent's and group's financial position as at 30 June 2019,
and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended

b)  complies with Australian Accounting Standards — Reduced Disclosure Requirements

The financial report comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at

30 June 2019, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, notes to the financial statements including summaries of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration.

Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards,
which incorporate the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of my report.

| am independent of the parent and group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’'s APES 110 Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in
Australia. | have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code and
the Auditor-General of Queensland Auditing Standards. | am also independent of the entity in
accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, and
confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has
been given to the directors of the company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors
as at the time of this auditor’s report.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my opinion.

Other information

Other information comprises the information included in the Redland Investment Corporation Pty
Ltd directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the financial report
and my auditor’s report thereon.

The directors are responsible for the other information.

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly | do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with my audit of the financial
report, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or my knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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If, based on the work | have performed, | conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, | am required to report that fact. | have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the company for the financial report

The company's directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal
control as the company's directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The company's directors are also responsible for assessing the parent's and group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the
parent or group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, | exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. | also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the parent's and group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the group.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the parent's and group's use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the parent's or
group's ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, | am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. | base my
conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the parent or group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the group to express an opinion on the financial report. |
am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the group. |
remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.

| communicate with the company's directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that | identify during my audit.

Q&U»@Lo L 4 September 2019

Melissa Read Queensland Audit Office
as delegate of the Auditor-General Brisbane
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14 REPORTS FROM COMMUNITY & CUSTOMER SERVICES

14.1 DECISIONS MADE UNDER DELEGATED AUTHORITY FOR CATEGORY 1, 2 AND 3
DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS

Objective Reference:

Authorising Officer:  Louise Rusan, General Manager Community & Customer Services

Responsible Officer: David Jeanes, Group Manager City Planning & Assessment

Report Author: Jill Driscoll, Group Support Officer

Attachments: 1. Decisions Made Under Delegated Authority 18.08.2019 to
31.08.2019

PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to note that the decisions listed below were made under
delegated authority for Category 1, 2 and 3 development applications only.

This information is provided for public interest.

BACKGROUND

At the General Meeting of 21 June 2017, Council resolved that development assessments be
classified into the following four categories:

Category 1 — minor code and referral agency assessments;
Category 2 — moderately complex code and impact assessments;
Category 3 — complex code and impact assessments; and
Category 4 — major assessments (not included in this report)

The applications detailed in this report have been assessed under:

Category 1 - Minor code assessable applications, concurrence agency referral, minor operational
works and minor compliance works; and minor change requests and extension to currency period
where the original application was Category 1.

Delegation Level: Chief Executive Officer, General Manager, Group Managers, Service Managers,
Team Leaders and Principal Planners as identified in the officer’s instrument of delegation.

Category 2 - In addition to Category 1, moderately complex code assessable applications, including
operational works and compliance works and impact assessable applications without objecting
submissions; other change requests and variation requests where the original application was
Category 1, 2, 3 or 4%,

*Provided the requests do not affect the reason(s) for the call in by the Councillor (or that there is
agreement from the Councillor that it can be dealt with under delegation).

Delegation Level: Chief Executive Officer, General Manager, Group Managers and Service
Managers as identified in the officer’s instrument of delegation.

Category 3 - In addition to Category 1 and 2, applications for code or impact assessment with a
higher level of complexity. They may have minor level aspects outside a stated policy position that
are subject to discretionary provisions of the planning scheme. Impact applications may involve
submissions objecting to the proposal readily addressable by reasonable and relevant conditions.
Assessing superseded planning scheme requests and approving a plan of subdivision.
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Delegation Level: Chief Executive Officer, General Manager and Group Managers as identified in
the officer’s instrument of delegation.

OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION

That Council resolves to note this report.
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Decisions Made Under Delegated Authority 18.08.2019 to 24.08.2019

CATEGORY1
. ) . Negotiated -
e L . . Associated Property Primary Decision L Decision R
Application Id | Application Full Details Applicant Address Category Date Deg;:;on Description Division
Domestic Additions - .
DBW19/0019 | Extension to Dwelling | AMD Constructions | - Strgeon Street Ormiston Code 20/08/2019 | N/A Development 1
QLD 4160 Assessment Permit
House
Referral
. " Bayside Building 8 Sovereign Road Agency
CAR19/0292 | Design and Siting - Shed Approvals Amity QLD 4183 Response - 22/08/2019 N/A Approved 2
Planning
Referral
Design and Siting - Shed Adept Building 1 Sutton Street Agency
CAR19/0154 & Awning Approvals Victoria Point QLD 4165 Response - 19/08/2019 NIA Approved 4
Planning
Referral
Design and Siting - David James 2 Alkira Street Agency
CAR19/0265 Dwelling House BIRTHISEL  |Macleay Island QLD 4184 | Response- | 00020191 NA Approved >
Planning
Referral
Design and Siting - ) 6 Irwin Place Agency
CAR19/0284 Carport The Certifier Pty Ltd Redland Bay QLD 4165 Response - 21/08/2019 N/A Approved 5
Planning
Change to Development . .
Bay Island Designs |41 Attunga Street Minor Change
MCU19/0101 Approval - MCU013947 The Certifier Pty Lid  |Macleay Island QLD 4184 to Approval 22/08/2019 N/A Approved 5
Dwelling House
Referral
Design and Siting- " 49 Falkirk Parade Agency
CAR19/0289 Carport & Shed Fluid Approvals Redland Bay QLD 4165 Response - 23/08/2019 N/A Approved 6
Planning
Referral
) " . Comerstone Building |22 Mashie Place Agency
CAR19/0293 | Design and Siting - Patio Certification Redland Bay QLD 4165 Response - 21/08/2019 N/A Approved 6
Planning
Page 1 of 7
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Decisions Made Under Delegated Authority 18.08.2019 to 24.08.2019

CATEGORY1
. . i, Negotiated -
. N . . Associated Property Primary Decision L Decision S
Application Id | Application Full Details Applicant Address Category Date Des:::leon Description Division
Referral
CAR19/0291 Design and Siting - Baic 12 Pigeon Court Birkdale Agency 0080019 | NiA Approved 8
Carport QLD 4159 Response
Planning
. 23 Claremont Street
Standard Format - 1 into 2| Mr Robert L MAYER : Code Development
/i /
RAL19/0047 Lots Mrs Lisa A MAYER Birkdale QLD 4159 Assessment 22/08/2019 WA Permit 10
Reconfiguring a Lot -
RAL19/0049 |Rearranging Boundaries - Amo NEL 7 Sammys Place Code 151082019 | N/A Development | 4,
2into 2 Birkdale QLD 4159 Assessment Permit
Page 2 of 7
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Decisions Made Under Delegated Authority 18.08.2019 to 24.08.2019

CATEGORY2
Negotiated
I L ) . Associated Property Primary Decision L Decision -
Application Id | Application Full Details Applicant Address Category Date Des:;;on Description Division
Change to Development
Approval - OPW002094 - Jexville Pty Ltd As 140 Middle Street Cleveland | Minor Change
OPW19/0086 10 Storey Apartment Trustee QLD 4163 to Approval 22/08/2019 NIA Approved 2
Building - 59 Units
Operational work -
OPW19/0060 | Excavationand Fillfor | Robert lan WATSON |22 Beelong Street Macleay Code 21082019 | N/A Development 5
) Island QLD 4184 Assessment Permit
Stormwater Drainage
Operational Works for Raymond 5 Joshua Place Redland Code Development
OPW19/0065 RAL 1 into 3 WASSENBERG Bay QLD 4165 Assessment 20/08/2019 NIA Permit 6
Clearing vegetation under Dalys MARQUIS 350 Esplanade Redland Bay Code Development
OPW19/0082 planning scheme Garry John MARQUIS |QLD 4165 Assessment 21/08/2019 NiA Permit 6
Community use,
(Museum and Art Studio
with ancillary Gallery Cafe
1051-1085 Mount Cotton
and Shop), Short-term Code Development
MCU18/0267 Accommodation. Survey Mark Efgg Mount Cotton QLD Assessment 23/08/2019 N/A Permit 6
Caretaker's
Accommodation and
Machinery Shed
Change to Development . 43-51 Kinross Road Minor Change
OPW19/0008 01 Approval Andiworth Pty Ltd Thomnlands QLD 4164 o Approval 22/08/2019 N/A Approved 7
Operational Works for - 387-395 Old Cleveland
. Birkdale Developments . Code Development
OPW19/0042 RAL - 1into 10 Lots + Pty Ltd Road East Birkdale QLD Assessment 20/08/2019 N/A Permit 8
Park 4159
Reconfiguring a Lot -
RAL18/0115 |Standard Format - 1 into 2| Mr Nathan PARKER | 19°-199 Delancey Street code 210812019 |  N/A Development 8
ols Ormiston QLD 4160 Assessment Permit
Multiple dwelling - (60 Azure Development  [42-44 Sturgeon Street Code Development
MCU19/0044 Townhouses) Group Pty Ltd Ormiston QLD 4160 Assessment 23/08/2019 NIA Permit 8
Change to Development . .
! Heran Building Group |Rhodes 58 Mount Cotton Minor Change
OPW19/0084 Approva_l - Multiple Pty Ltd Road Capalaba QLD 4157 o Approval 22/08/2019 N/A Approved 9
Dwelling x 41
Page 3 of 7
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Decisions Made Under Delegated Authority 25.08.2019 to 31.08.2019

CATEGORY1
. ) . Negotiated -
e L . . Associated Property Primary Decision L Decision R
Application Id | Application Full Details Applicant Address Category Date Deg;:;on Description Division
Referral
Design and Siting - Strickland Certifications |6 Biscay Street Wellington Agency
CAR19/0213 Carport Pty Ltd Point QLD 4160 Response - 26/08/2019 N/A Approved 1
Planning
Referral
Design and Siting - 15 Thorn Street Ormiston Agency
CAR19/0274 Dwelling & Carport Steve BARTLEY QLD 4160 Response - 29/08/2019 N/A Approved 1
Planning
Referral
Design and Siting - 38 Gotha Street Cleveland Agency
CAR19/0294 Carport The Certifier Pty Ltd QLD 4163 Response - 26/08/2019 MN/A Approved 2
Planning
Referral
Design and Siting - ) 194 Coburg Street West Agency
CAR19/0298 Dwelling House Wade Lindsay VAISNYS Cleveland QLD 4163 Respanse - 30/08/2019 N/A Approved 2
Planning
Referral
Design and Siting - 38 Abalone Crescent Agency
CAR19/0288 Carport Bardera Pty Ltd Thornlands QLD 4164 Response - 27/08/2019 N/A Approved 3
Planning
. Laurie Burns Sportsfields
Change to Development | Coochiemudio Island h .
MCU18/0083 01 | Approval MCUTB/0083 - | Recreation Club ~ [£+° Flzabeih et - [inor ohande | 30055919 | ia Approved 4
Community Facility Incorporated 4184 PP
Referral
Design and Siting - Bayside Building 8 Brampton Close Redland Agency
CAR19/0302 Garage Approvals Bay QLD 4165 Response - 30/08/2019 N/A Approved 5
Planning
Referral
Design and Siting - Gold Coast Building |6 Orme Drive Russell Island Agency
CAR19/0307 Carport Approvals QLD 4184 Response - 27/08/2019 N/A Approved 5
Planning
Page 4 of 7
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Decisions Made Under Delegated Authority 25.08.2019 to 31.08.2019

CATEGORY1
. . i, Negotiated -
. N . . Associated Property Primary Decision L Decision S
Application Id | Application Full Details Applicant Address Category Date Des:::leon Description Division
Referral
. P Amenity and Aesthetics - | Cornerstone Building [121-139 Springacre Road Agency . y §
CARTI/0275 Dwelling Certification Thornlands QLD 4164 Response 3010872019 NIA Approved 6
Planning
Christine Elizabeth
Excavation & Fill (incl. BINDER 1-5 Sugarglider Court Mount Code Development
/ /i /
OPW19/0051 Retaining walls) Phillip Alexander Cotton QLD 4165 Assessment 30/08/2019 NIA Permit 6
BINDER
Reconfiguring a Lot - . .
RAL19/0040 |Standard Format - 1 into 2| Garry James ALSTON |24 Village Drive Mount Code 26/08/2019 | N/A Deemed 6
Lots Cotton QLD 4165 Assessment Approval
Retferral
. p Design and Siting - . 22 Mapleton Crescent Agency P - N
CAR19/0304 Carport The Certifier Pty Ltd Capalaba QLD 4157 Response 30/08/2019 N/A Approved f
Planning
Reconfiguring a Lot - ! ]
RAL19/0050 |Standard Format- 1into 3| The Certfier PtyLtd | valantne Road Birkdale | Code  1,958p019|  NiA Development | g
Lots QLD 4159 Assessment Permit
Referral
; Design and Siting - Shed | Cornerstone Building |6 Sheedy Court Capalaba Agency . .
CAR19/0290 & Patio Certification QLD 4157 Response - | 200812019 | N/A Approved 9
Planning
Referral
. Design and Siting Applied Building 54 Lawn Terrace Capalaba Agency . .
CAR19/0311 Garage and Shed Approvals QLD 4157 Response - 30/08/2019 NIA Approved 9
Planning
Page 50f 7
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Decisions Made Under Delegated Authority 25.08.2019 to 31.08.2019

CATEGORY2
. . i, Negotiated -
. N . . Associated Property Primary Decision L Decision S
Application Id | Application Full Details Applicant Address Category Date Des:::leon Description Division
Reconfiguring a Lot - Fernbourne Grove Bayside
47 Standard Format - 1 into . N Villas 41-47 Fernbourne Code HRIMAL Development
< ) / ¢ .
RAL18/0121 30 lots (Stage 1 with Sutgold Pty Ltd Road Wellington Point QLD | Assessment 26/08/2019 NIA Permit !
balance lot) 4160
Reconfiguring a Lot - Fermnbourne Grove Bayside
(49 Standard Format - 1 into . Villas Code P Development
RAL18/0122 Sutgold Pty Ltd 26/08/2019 N/A 1
g 21 lots (Stage 2 with 3 Higold Fy L 41-47 Fernbourne Road Assessment e Permit
balance lots) Wellington Point QLD 4160
Clearing vegetation under Dalys MARQUIS 350 Esplanade Redland Bay Code P y Development
8] q/ /
OPW19/0082 planning scheme Garry John MARQUIS QLD 4165 Assessment 30/08/2019 NIA Permit 6
] Degen Road Park
MCU18/0224 | EXtEnsions to Clubhouse | . o1ob soorts Club [1-21 Degen Road Capalaba | . ™P3St 29082019 | A Development 9
and Car Park Assessment Permit
QLD 4157
Change to approval .
) Avon Capital Estates ) .
J .
CAR18/0330.01 |CAR19/0330 - Design and) * /o iay limited |20 Galley Way Birkdale | Minor Ghange | o,0/5049 |y Approved 10
Siting - Dwelling House N QLD 4159 to Approval
PPLAN
Proposed Lot 18
Page 6 of 7
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Decisions Made Under Delegated Authority 25.08.2019 to 31.08.2019

CATEGORY3
. . i, Negotiated -
. N . . Associated Property Primary Decision L Decision S
Application Id | Application Full Details Applicant Address Category Date Des:::leon Description Division
. 235 Shore Street North Impact . . Development
MCU18/0257 Food and drink outlet JV No 3 Pty Ltd Cleveland QLD 4163 Assessment 28/08/2019 N/A Permit 2
Request to Apply DA Apply
SPS19/0006 | Superseded Planning PlHome Py Lid  |o4 Pear StreetRedland Bay | o iois | 28082019 | NiA Refused 6
: QLD 4165 ;
Scheme - Dwelling House Policy/Code
Page 7 of 7
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14.2 LIST OF DEVELOPMENT AND PLANNING RELATED COURT MATTERS AS AT 29 AUGUST
2019

Objective Reference:
Authorising Officer: Louise Rusan, General Manager Community & Customer Services

Responsible Officer: David Jeanes, Group Manager City Planning & Assessment

Report Author: Christy Englezakis, Senior Appeals Planner
Attachments: Nil
PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is for Council to note the current development and planning related
appeals and other related matters/proceedings.

BACKGROUND

Information on appeals and other related matters may be found as follows:

1. Planning and Environment Court

a) Information on current appeals and applications with the Planning and Environment
Court involving Redland City Council can be found at the District Court web site using the
“Search civil files (eCourts) Party Search” service:
http://www.courts.qld.gov.au/services/search-for-a-court-file/search-civil-files-ecourts

b) Judgments of the Planning and Environment Court can be viewed via the Supreme Court
of Queensland Library web site under the Planning and Environment Court link:
http://www.sclgld.org.au/qjudgment/

2.  Court of Appeal

Information on the process and how to search for a copy of Court of Appeal documents can
be found at the Supreme Court (Court of Appeal) website:
http://www.courts.qld.gov.au/courts/court-of-appeal/the-appeal-process

3. Department of State Development, Manufacturing, Infrastructure and Planning (DSDMIP)

The DSDMIP provides a Database of Appeals that may be searched for past appeals and
applications heard by the Planning and Environment Court.
https://planning.dsdmip.qld.gov.au/planning/spa-system/dispute-resolution-under-
spa/planning-and-environment-court/planning-and-environment-court-appeals-database

The database contains:

a) A consolidated list of all appeals and applications lodged in the Planning and Environment
Courts across Queensland of which the Chief Executive has been notified.

b) Information about the appeal or application, including the file number, name and year,
the site address and local government.
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4. Department of Housing and Public Works (DHPW)

Information on the process and remit of development tribunals can be found at the DHPW
website:
http://www.hpw.gld.gov.au/construction/BuildingPlumbing/DisputeResolution/Pages/defau

It.aspx

PLANNING & ENVIRONMENT COURT APPEALS & APPLICATIONS

. CA11075/17
1. File Number: (MCU013296)
Lipoma Pty Ltd
Appellants: Lanrex Pty Ltd

Victoria Point Lakeside Pty Ltd

Co-respondent (Applicant) Nerinda Pty Ltd

Preliminary Approval for Material Change of Use for Mixed Use Development and
Development Permit for Reconfiguring a Lot (1 into 2 lots)

128-144 Boundary Road, Thornlands

(Lot 3 on SP117065)

Appeal Details: Submitter appeal against Council approval.

A directions hearing was held on 1 August 2018. A further directions hearing was
held on 5 October 2018 to confirm the matters to be determined by the Court.
The matter was heard before the Court over four days, commencing 4 March
2019. The Court has reserved its decision.

Proposed Development:

Current Status:

! 2171 of 2018
2. File Number: (ROL006209)
Applicant: Lorette Margaret Wigan
Reconfiguring a Lot for 1 into 29 lots and road
Proposed Development: 84-122 Taylor Road, Thornlands
(Lot 1 on RP123222)
Appeal Details: Appeal against Council decision to issue Preliminary Approval.

Appeal filed on 13 June 2018. Mediation was held on 29 June 2018. A second
mediation was held on 2 October 2018. A third mediation was held on 22
Current Status: October 2018. A fourth mediation was held on 8 April 2019. Reviews were held
on 12 April 2019, 19 July 2019 and 23 August 2019. The matter has been listed
for further review on 9 October 2019.

. 135 of 2018
3. File Number: (MCU013917)
Applicant: Maureen Joan Chapman
Material Change of Use for a Dwelling House
Proposed Development: 42 Magnolia Street, Russell Island
(Lots 77, 78, 104 & 105 on RP129012)
Appeal Details: Appeal against Council refusal.

Appeal filed on 21 September 2018. The Appellant filed an application in
pending proceedings on 10 May 2019, for orders to progress the appeal. A
Current Status: review was held on 30 May 2019. A without prejudice mediation was held on 11
July 2019. A review was held on 2 August 2019 and the matter has been listed
for further review on 20 September 2019.
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. 2722 of 2019
4, File Number: (MC010910)
Applicant: Spiral Wave Pty Ltd

Proposed Development:

Material Change of Use for an Apartment Building
193 — 197 Esplanade, Redland Bay
(Lots 1 & 2 on RP172052)

Application Details:

Application for a declaration and orders about a lapsed development approval.

Current Status:

Application filed on 31 July 2019. A review was held on 23 August 2019. The
application was heard on 28 August 2019 and judgment was made reviving and
extending the development approval. The application is now resolved.

. 2959 of 2019
5. File Number: (MCU013688)
Applicant: Quin Enterprises Pty Ltd

Proposed Development:

Material Change of Use for the extension of the existing Extractive Industry and
Heavy Industry (office, truck weighbridge, car parking, storage area for materials
with associated landscape buffers)

684-712 Mount Cotton Road, Sheldon

(Lot 1 on RP109322 & 3 on SP238067)

Appeal Details:

Appeal against Council refusal.

Current Status:

Appeal filed 19 August 2019.

. 3041 of 2019
6. File Number: (OPW18/0053)
Applicant: Daniel Joseph Laruccia

Proposed Development:

Minor change application for a second driveway
9 Megan Court, Thornlands
(Lot 18 on SP213904)

Application Details:

Application for a declaration that the proposed change is a minor change and for
orders amending the existing reconfiguration approval granted by the Planning
and Environment Court (Appeal 836/07) to reflect the proposed change.

Current Status:

Application filed 23 August 2019. The application is set down for hearing on 25
September 2019.

APPEALS TO THE QUEENSLAND COURT OF APPEAL

7 File Number: 8114 of 2018
) ) (MCU012812)/ (QPEC Appeal 3641 of 2015)
Appellant: Redland City Council

Respondent (applicant):

King of Gifts Pty Ltd and HTC Consulting Pty Ltd

Proposed Development:

Material Change of Use for Service Station (including car wash) and Drive
Through Restaurant
604-612 Redland Bay Road, Alexandra Hills

Appeal Details:

Appeal against the decision of the Planning and Environment Court to allow the
appeal and approve the development.

Current Status:

Appeal filed by Council on 30 July 2018. Council’s outline of argument was
filed on 28 August 2018. The appellant’s outline of argument was filed on 20
September 2018. The matter was heard before the Court on 12 March 2019.
The Court has reserved its decision.

Item 14.2

Page 105



GENERAL MEETING AGENDA

9 OCTOBER 2019

DEVELOPMENT TRIBUNAL APPEALS AND OTHER MATTERS

. Appeal 19-033
. File N :
8 fle Number (CAR19/0135)
Appellant: Robert Reynolds
Assessment Manager: Luke Jones

Co-Respondent

Redland City Council

Proposed Development:

Building Work for Carport (Boatport) (including car wash)
6 Dinton Court, Alexandra Hills

Appeal Details:

Appeal against the decision of the assessment manager to refuse the
development application, as directed by Redland City Council, in its role as
concurrence agency.

Current Status:

Appeal filed by the Appellant on 26 July 2019. Council was notified of the
appeal on 30 July 2019.

. . Appeal 19-034
9. File Number: (PD236994)
Appellant: Gregory Thomas Hayes

Assessment Manager:

Redland City Council

Proposed Development:

Plumbing and Drainage Works for a composting toilet
17 Kennedy Avenue, Russell Island

Appeal Details:

Appeal against the decision of the Redland City Council to refuse a plumbing
application for the installation of a composting toilet.

Current Status:

Appeal filed on 26 July 2019. Council was notified of the appeal on 30 July
2019.

. Appeal 19-035
10. File N :
0 ile Number (ENF007739)
Appellant: Janis Wemyss and Joseph Greaves
Respondent Redland City Council

Applicable Development:

Retaining wall
44 Chipping Drive, Alexandra Hills

Appeal Details:

Appeal against the decision of Redland City Council to give an enforcement
notice.

Current Status:

Appeal filed on 6 August 2019. Council was notified of the appeal on 7 August
2019.

OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION

That Council resolves to note this report.
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14.3 REDLANDS ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD UPDATE
Objective Reference:
Authorising Officer:  Louise Rusan, General Manager Community & Customer Services

Responsible Officer: Kim Kerwin, Group Manager Community & Economic Development

Report Author: Kristen Banks, Executive Officer Community and Customer Services
Attachments: Nil
PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to table a report to Council on the fourteenth formal meeting of the
Redlands Economic Development Advisory Board (Advisory Board) in accordance with the
Advisory Board’s Terms of Reference.

BACKGROUND

Council established and appointed an Advisory Board as part of its commitment to increasing the
City’s economic capacity through business growth and retention, and employment generation. The
Advisory Board oversees implementation of the Redland City Economic Development Framework
2014-2041 and assists in the development of industry sector plans.

ISSUES
The fourteenth formal Advisory Board meeting was held on Thursday 1 August 2019.
The following items formed the agenda for the meeting:

Welcome and acknowledgement of Traditional Owners

Review of status of meeting 13 actions

Redlands Coast branding

Third horizon opportunities for Redlands Coast

Presentation — Industry sector plans implementation

Presentation — Regional Skills Investment Strategy

Workshop session — Centre of excellence in gerontological medicine, aged care and education
8. Workshop session — Investment attraction plan and concierge model

NouhswnN e

A summary of the meeting follows:
1. Welcome and acknowledgement of Traditional Owners
e The Chair opened the meeting and acknowledged Traditional Owners.
2. Review of status of meeting 13 actions
e Advisory Board noted the progress of status of meeting 13 actions.
3. Redlands Coast branding

e Advisory Board commended the Redlands Coast economic development video that was
developed to be used for investment attraction and future events, and recommended it be
distributed via Council’s communication channels including social media.
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4. Third horizon opportunities for Redlands Coast

e Advisory Board discussed potential economic development opportunities for the city.
These included potential for a Redlands Coast hydrogen economy and Redlands Coast
Adventure Sports Precinct.

e Advisory Board supported Council undertaking feasibility studies with priority for both
projects.

e Advisory Board expressed interest in further discussing the Redlands Coast hydrogen
economy in more detail at a future meeting.

5. Presentation — Industry sector plans implementation

e Advisory Board noted the update reports of the implementation of the Redland City
Education and Training Industry Sector Plan 2018-2023 and Redland City Health Care and
Social Assistance Industry Sector Plan 2018-2023. Advisory Board requested a Flying Minute
for more time to review and provide any further feedback and advice on implementation
of the industry sector plans.

6. Presentation — Regional Skills Investment Strategy

e Advisory Board was advised that Council has received funding through the Queensland
Government Department of Employment, Small Business and Training (DESBT) for the role
of a Project Coordinator Regional Skills Investment Strategy for two years (2019-20 and
2020-21). The role of the Project Coordinator, who commenced with Council on 15 July
2019, is to identify training needs/workforce challenges and training solutions in
partnership with DESBT across key industry sectors. This includes: establishing reference
group(s) to determine priorities; developing collaborative networks to identify needs
(working with established Council networks); and increasing awareness of support
available to the community through the Queensland Government’s Annual Vocational
Education and Training Investment Plan.

e Advisory Board endorsed the industry sectors that the Project Coordinator will focus on will
align with the Redland City Economic Development Framework 2014-2041. These include
Manufacturing and Health Care and Social Assistance, with a third industry to be confirmed
with DESBT.

e Advisory Board supported the Project Coordinator’s approach to setting up reference
groups for those sectors.

7. Workshop session — Centre of excellence in gerontological medicine, aged care and education

e Advisory Board received an overview of work being undertaken by Council to help
determine feasibility for a potential centre of excellence in education (CoE) for the ageing,
which is identified as a key action of both the Redland City Education and Training Industry
Sector Plan 2018-2023 and Redland City Health Care and Social Assistance Industry Sector
Plan 2018-2023.

e Advisory Board also received a draft concept study prepared by KPMG on how to
potentially establish the CoE.

e Advisory Board recommended that a staged approach should be taken to establish a CoE,
and advised that the first stage should be for Council to proceed with establishment of a
formalised community network to further explore the concept.
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e Advisory Board noted that stakeholders were yet to be consulted on the concept study.
8. Workshop session — Investment attraction plan and concierge model

e Advisory Board discussed work being undertaken by Council in the area of investment
attraction.

e Advisory Board provided feedback on a draft investor concierge framework prepared by
Ethos Urban.
STRATEGIC IMPLICATIONS
Legislative Requirements
There are no legislative requirements that affect the outcome of this report.
Risk Management
Identified risks to successful economic development in city include:

e failure to work in partnership with the business community, and other levels of government
that will inhibit the delivery of the framework; and

e failure to develop and implement industry sector plans due to inadequate resourcing.
Financial

There are no financial implications. The operation of the Advisory Board is in the Financial Year
2019/20 budget.

People

Council may make decisions based on Advisory Board meeting recommendations that may impact
human resources in the Community and Economic Development Group.

Environmental
There are no environmental implications.
Social

A strong and vibrant economy allows a community to reinvest its wealth back into the society that
helped contribute to that growth. The wellbeing of people, the environment and the economy
underpin the ecological sustainability of the City. A strong and sustainable economy will be
integrated and deliver benefits from across a range of sectors, through all parts of the City and
across all demographic boundaries.

Alignment with Council's Policy and Plans
Relationship to Corporate Plan

The Advisory Board, through its role of overseeing the implementation of the Redland City
Economic Development Framework 2014-2041, supports Council's strategic priority of delivering a
supportive and vibrant economy. In addition, the Framework will:

e Provide opportunity for business investment and local employment.

e Develop a supportive vibrant economy that delivers business opportunities.
e Promote local jobs.

e Strengthen the tourism industry.
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CONSULTATION
C Itati .
Consulted onsuitation Comments/Actions
Date
Request for a presentation on the concept study on how to
Associate Director, KPMG 10 July 2019 establish a centre of excellence in gerontological medicine,
aged care and education
Professor. Science and Request for attendance during discussion of third horizon
. . 26 July 2019 opportunities for Redlands Coast (Redlands Coast hydrogen
Engineering Faculty, QUT
economy)
Director Planning, Ethos 23 July 2019 Request for a presentation on the draft investor concierge

Urban

framework

OPTIONS
Option One

That Council resolves to note this report.

Option Two

That Council resolves to request further information or changes to this report.

OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION

That Council resolves to note this report.
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14.4 REDLAND YOUTH COUNCIL
Objective Reference:
Authorising Officer:  Louise Rusan, General Manager Community & Customer Services

Responsible Officer: Kim Kerwin, Group Manager Community & Economic Development

Report Author: Jess Sattler, Community Development Officer
Attachments: Nil
PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to address the Notice of Motion from the General Meeting of 20 June
2018 that resolved to: 1. Investigate the establishment of a Redland City Youth Council; and 2.
Provide a report back to Council for consideration, including possible criteria for youth council
participants, selection methods and costs.

This report outlines the current program of youth engagement activities for 2019/20 and
considers the introduction of a youth council into program delivery.

BACKGROUND

Redland City Council has not previously hosted a youth council. Elements of a youth council have
been included in former programs including YTALK (from 2005-2012) and the Young Citizens
Program (from 1998-2014).

The Redlands Youth Strategy 2015-2020 outlines a range of commitments and actions that inform
the city’s youth program. This program includes:

Previous Initiatives

e Redlands Amazing Race 2018

e Redlands Coast Amazing Race 2019

e Youth Day Out (3 were held in 2018)

e Youth Day Out 2019

e Redlands Youth Network (held quarterly)

e RedGen Youth Forum (March 2017)

e Redland City Youth Facebook, Instagram and Snapchat communication channels
e Young Entrepreneur Summit (YES) (September 2019)

e Leading and co-leading other community networks that facilitate direct and indirect
engagement with youth.

Future Initiatives
e Youth Leadership Summit —a partnership with PCYC (in planning for February 2020)

e Youth Week activity to highlight work being done with disengaged young people (tentatively
April 2020)

e Review of the Redlands Youth Strategy 2015-2020

e Development of a new youth action plan
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e Enhance partnerships with community organisations, government departments and sponsors
to continue delivery of Redlands Coast youth days out

e Continue to strengthen and build the capacity of the Redlands Coast Youth Network

e Continue to use social media channels to inform young people of local, state and federal
government programs and initiatives.

ISSUES
Defining a youth council

Traditionally, a youth council provides young people with the opportunity to learn about local
government and provides a platform for them to voice their opinions to effect change. Youth
councils allow local government to connect with, and listen to young people about their priority
issues and empower them to be involved in decision making that impacts their lives. Youth
councils typically comprise about 15 to 20 young people aged from 12 to 24 years, appointed
through a formal expression of interest (EOI) process and operating under defined terms of
reference.

Youth council models

Officers conducted research and consultation across Australian local governments to establish
background details on how they implement their youth councils in terms of participants, age
groups, selection methods and resource allocation.

Based on the findings, the following elements of a youth council appear consistent:

e Involves those aged 12-25 years

e Consists of approximately 16 members

e Members are typically recruited via an EOI process

e Members are decided by varying means (officer, council or external network endorsement)
e Members have a term of one or two years (with extension options)

e Meetings occur at least monthly with more frequent engagement for professional
development purposes

e Staffing resourcing equates on average to approximately 0.4 FTE
e Budget allocation varies between $9000 to $30,000 (average $15,000)

The budget allocation for these youth councils includes elements such as professional
development activities for members, face-to-face meetings (and in some cases transport costs),
uniforms and badges (to create an identity), catering, and contributions to events and activities
organised by the youth council for local youth. All councils consulted had a budget for the
implementation of their youth council.

The councils that were investigated employed traditional youth council models. It is important to
note that not all councils have youth councils, and other models for engaging with young people
are available. These models include working with already established student councils in local
schools or refocusing existing business as usual activities for more structured youth engagement
opportunities.

To complement the desktop review, an engagement was conducted through the Redlands Coast
Education and Training Roundtable brainstorming session in October 2018, which consisted of
representatives from TAFE Queensland, universities and principals from Redland City schools. The
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objective of the engagement was to better understand relevant experiences and possible
implementation methods, including support for a youth council model, potentially alighed with
student councils. Stakeholder feedback from the brainstorming session was that an online
approach through student councils was a proposed alternative to the creation of a new youth
council.

Youth council model

A traditional youth council model is one way of delivering on Council’s desire to better engage
with the young people of the city, however there are a range of other models that will fulfil the
same goals without some of the issues inherent in the traditional youth council model. This could
include a reference group that meets on an as-needs basis to provide input on issues that Council

is dealing with that pertain to young people, including input into a new youth action plan.

The following youth council models are proposed for consideration:

Model options

Benefits

Challenges

Resources

Model 1:

a) Continue to use
targeted activities,
including
forums/summits

b) Develop a reference
group to give
feedback on youth

Potential for Council to
engage with city’s youth
demographic rather that a
smaller number of
participants using a
traditional youth council
model.

A Youth Summit could be
instrumental in the
development of new
strategic/programming
plans for Council’s youth
development program in
future years.

Limited opportunity for
leadership development
and capacity building
compared to an ongoing
youth council model.

issues which includes
school leavers/young
professionals/innova
tors. Group to meet
on an as-needs basis

Potential for broader
demographic (beyond
school years) to be
engaged, with opportunity

to focus on specific matters.

Small group with a narrow
remit.

This option aligns with
current work program
delivery mechanisms and
has no additional resource
requirements.

Model 2: Traditional youth

council

Structured model.

Potential for Council to
engage more deeply with a
small number of young
people in a limited age
range.

Potential to build capacity
and leadership of
participants.

Management of
expectation to influence
local government.

Dependent on the ability
of schools to engage —
school timetables and
curriculums are typically
fully committed.

Resource intensive due to
the additional
administration, facilitation
and ongoing guidance
required by a youth
council.
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Model options

Benefits

Challenges

Resources

Model 3: Online youth

council

Potential for Council to
engage with young people
who access the online
platform.

Can be scaled to interact
with larger numbers of
young people.

Not all schools may take
up the initiative as some
Redland City schools have
a no device/social media
policy.

While online
environments are a

Less resource intensive
than a traditional youth
council, but resources still
required to set up,
provide content and
moderate an online space.

natural space for young
people, identifying
platforms that balance
ease of use, ability to
moderate and
attractiveness to engage
is challenging.

On balance, it is the view of officers that continued implementation of Model 1 provides the best
outcomes for Council by combining a broad range of targeted activities with a reference group
that can focus on specific issues.

STRATEGIC IMPLICATIONS

The Redlands Youth Strategy 2015-2020 is scheduled for review in the 2019/20 financial year to
ensure the delivery approach remains relevant and is aligned with Council’s priorities. Young
people engaged through a reference group as identified in Model 1, could inform Council of
identified opportunities and issues, which could in turn be incorporated into the strategy review
and future action plans.

Legislative Requirements

Although specific youth engagement is not a legislative requirement, the Local Government Act
2009 (s4) identifies the need for ‘transparent and effective processes, decision-making in the
public interest; delivery of effective services; democratic representation, social inclusion and
meaningful community engagement’. All options proposed in this report would help deliver on
these legislative outcomes.

Risk Management
Opportunities for enhanced youth engagement have the potential to create risks such as:

e Unrealistic expectations raised with young people specifically about their ability to effect
change in Council’s operational and capital expenditure. This can be managed by clearly setting
and managing expectations.

e The creation of safe online spaces for young people to interact, especially when dealing with
age groups below 18 years. Mitigating this risk through active moderation is administratively
intensive and there is a high risk to Council’s reputation should the online space fail or be
mismanaged.

e Youth councils generally attract those who academically excel and/or are already involved in
extracurricular activities outside of the school environment. While contribution from these
young people would potentially benefit such a group, take up of an opportunity to engage a
broader youth cohort could be more beneficial.
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e Dependency on the ability of schools/universities/registered training organisations to engage —
timetables and curriculums are notoriously busy. Pre-planning and generous lead times will
help to address this risk.

Financial

To continue to implement Model 1, there are no financial implications. This is business-as-usual
and is in the Financial Year 2019/20 budget.

If a decision was made to implement models 2 or 3, additional resourcing will be required.
Indicative budget requirements are in the order of $15,000 operational budget, and an additional
resource. This could be requested through the budget review process.

People

A Community Development Officer (Level 5) within the Strengthening Communities Unit commits
approximately 0.8 FTE towards the delivery of ongoing youth-related initiatives.

Environmental
Not applicable to this report.
Social

All three models support the creation and ongoing relationships between Council and young
people. Other social benefits include:

e |dentifying future leaders

e Facilitation of constructive conversations thereby identifying issues and solutions

e Councillors have the opportunity to engage with young people in formal and informal settings
e Strengthening connection to community and place.

The majority of these benefits can be achieved through continued implementation of Model 1.
Alignment with Council’s Policy and Plans

Using targeted activities including forums and summits aligns with a number of strategic plans and
policies. These include:

e Redland City Council Corporate Plan 2018-2023

e Redland City Council Operational Plan 2019-2020
e Redlands 2030 Community Plan

e Redlands Youth Strategy 2015-2020

e Redland Youth Engagement Policy

e Child and Youth Friendly Redlands

CONSULTATION
Consulted Consultation Date Comments/ Actions
Service Manager Strengthening June 2018 to current .
e Ongoing
Communities date
Group Manager Community and June 2018 to current .
. Ongoing
Economic Development date
General Manager Community June 2018 to current Ongoin
and Customer Services date going
Organisational Development Ascertaining the demographics of young people employed by
. July 2018 .
Advisor Council
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Consulted Consultation Date Comments/ Actions
o . Sought clarification on questions raised at the General
D 6C Il July 2018 .
vision 5 Louncitior qy Meeting of 12 June 2018
Division 10 Councillor July 2018 Sought clarification on questions raised at the General

Meeting of 12 June 2018

Education and Training

Sought feedback from school principals, tertiary educators
and government representatives in relation to either the

201
Roundtable participants October 2018 creation of a youth council or other options in which to
continue to engage young people
Councillor Briefing August 2019 Councillors were |nfor'med of a range of opt|0n§ to achieve
better engagement with young people in the City
OPTIONS
Option One

That Council resolves as follows:

1. That the Strengthening Communities Unit continues to implement youth council Model 1
including delivery of a program of targeted activities including forums/summits to provide
meaningful engagement opportunities with young people.

2. That the Strengthening Communities Unit develop a reference group to give feedback on
youth issues which includes school leavers/young professionals/innovators, meeting on an as-
needs basis.

Option Two

That Council resolves as follows:

1. That the Strengthening Community Unit continues to implement youth council Model 1 as
outlined in Option One.

2. That the Strengthening Communities Unit also implements a traditional youth council (Model
2), with resourcing and budget to be requested through the 2019/20 budget review process.

Option Three

That Council resolves as follows:

1.

That the Strengthening Community Unit continues to implement youth council Model 1 as
outlined in Option One.

That the Strengthening Communities Unit implements an online youth council (Model 3) with
membership targeted at student councils from Redland City secondary schools, with
resourcing and budget to be requested through the 2019/20 budget review process.

OFFICER’S RECOMMENDATION

That Council resolves as follows:

1.

That the Strengthening Communities Unit continues to implement youth council Model 1
including delivery of a program of targeted activities including forums/summits to provide
meaningful engagement opportunities with young people.

That the Strengthening Communities Unit develop a reference group to give feedback on
youth issues which includes school leavers/young professionals/innovators, meeting on an as-
needs basis.
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15 REPORTS FROM INFRASTRUCTURE & OPERATIONS
Nil
16 NOTICES OF MOTION TO REPEAL OR AMEND A RESOLUTION

In accordance with s.262 Local Government Regulation 2012.

17 NOTICES OF MOTION

In accordance with s.6.16 POL-3127 Council Meeting Standing Orders.
17.1 CR MARK EDWARDS — SOUTHERN MORETON BAY ISLANDS (SMBI) ROAD SEALING

In accordance with s.6.16 POL-3127 Council Meeting Standing Orders, Cr Edwards intends to
move:

That Council resolves as follows:

1. That officers prepare a report analysing the unsealed roads on the Southern Moreton Bay Islands,
and that the report includes:

a. Cost to green seal all the island roads that have residential properties.

b. The current operational costs to maintain the unsealed roads.

c. The projected operational cost savings to Council if the roads were sealed.

d. The current health and social impacts to residents currently living on unsealed roads.

e. The environmental benefits in sealing the roads including the surrounding water ways due to
reduced sediment outflows.

f. A budget forecast to seal all identified roads over a three year period.
g. Aroad prioritisation list in order of delivery.
2. To deliver a workshop with the above information to Councillors within 60 days of this motion.

3. That the report is made available to the public.

18 URGENT BUSINESS WITHOUT NOTICE

In accordance with s.6.17 of POL-3127 Council Meeting Standing Orders, a Councillor may bring
forward an item of urgent business if the meeting resolves that the matter is urgent.

Urgent Business Checklist YES | NO

To achieve an outcome, does this matter have to be dealt with at a
general meeting of Council?

Does this matter require a decision that only Council make?

Can the matter wait to be placed on the agenda for the next Council
Meeting?

Is it in the public interest to raise this matter at this meeting?

Can the matter be dealt with administravely?
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If the matter relates to a request for information, has the request been
made to the CEO or a General Manager Previously?
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19 CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS

COUNCIL MOTION

That Council considers confidential report(s) in a meeting closed to the public in accordance with
Section 275(1) of the Local Government Regulation 2012:

19.1 Acquisition of Valueless Land for Overdue Rates and Charges

This matter is considered to be confidential under Section 275(1)(h) of the Local Government
Regulation 2012, and the Council is satisfied that discussion of this matter in an open meeting
would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest as it deals with other business for which a
public discussion would be likely to prejudice the interests of the local government or someone
else, or enable a person to gain a financial advantage.

19.2 Redland Aquatic and Emergency Precinct Land Exchange

This matter is considered to be confidential under Section 275(1)(h) of the Local Government
Regulation 2012, and the Council is satisfied that discussion of this matter in an open meeting
would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest as it deals with other business for which a
public discussion would be likely to prejudice the interests of the local government or someone
else, or enable a person to gain a financial advantage.

19.3 Southern Thornlands Potential Future Growth Area

This matter is considered to be confidential under Section 275(1)(h) of the Local Government
Regulation 2012, and the Council is satisfied that discussion of this matter in an open meeting
would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest as it deals with other business for which a
public discussion would be likely to prejudice the interests of the local government or someone
else, or enable a person to gain a financial advantage.

19.4 Biosolids Delegated Authority

This matter is considered to be confidential under Section 275(1)(e) of the Local Government
Regulation 2012, and the Council is satisfied that discussion of this matter in an open meeting
would, on balance, be contrary to the public interest as it deals with contracts proposed to be
made by it.

20 MEETING CLOSURE
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